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This report details State Trustees’ business performance for the 2008/09 financial  
year and reflects our commitment to transparent and open reporting.

This document reviews our performance against our strategic objectives and records  
our financial performance in accordance with the requirements of the State Trustees 
(State Owned Enterprise) Act 1994 and respective regulatory requirements.



State Trustees is a commercial financial services organisation owned by  
the State of Victoria. It delivers a broad array of products and services to 
Victorians helping them with their financial needs so they can make the most 
of their opportunities. This includes responsibility as a community service 
provider for the managing, wholly or partially, the legal and financial affairs 
of Victorians who are unable to do so themselves.  
We offer a broad range of trustee, estate management, executor and personal financial administration services.   
This extends from writing Wills; planning for retirement, through to managing a lasting charitable legacy; from advising on 
the tax and pension impacts of various investment decisions, to managing financial affairs and preparing tax returns.   
As a community service provider, we manage the financial affairs of approximately 9,000 Victorians who are unable to do 
so themselves due to disability, injury, mental illness or other personal circumstances. Through this work, together with our 
commercial activities, we have built both a diverse and an extensive depth of experience. We have also developed the 
culture, skills and expertise to deliver a high quality service to our clients combined with sensitivity, patience and 
understanding. 

70 years of State Trustees 

This year marked 70 years since the formation of State Trustees in its current form. 

State Trustees’ predecessor first came to life after the Public Trustee Act was passed by the Victorian Parliament in  
1939, creating the Public Trust Office of Victoria.

A brief history

The new Public Trust Office of Victoria merged the duties of the Curator of Estates of Deceased Persons, and the Master in 
Equity. Until 1923 the Master in Equity was also known as the Master in Lunacy. The new Office continued to manage the 
estates of people then residing in mental health care or lacking the capacity to manage their own affairs. The Office was 
also Custodian of Wills.

In 1986 the Guardianship and Administration Act was introduced, and the Public Trustee no longer had automatic 
responsibility for all involuntary psychiatric clients, and as a result, became more responsive in service delivery. 

This created new opportunities for comprehensive planning and improved quality of services for existing clients. 

In 1987, the new, independent State Trust Corporation of Victoria was launched when the State Trustees Act was passed  
by the Victorian Parliament. The Attorney General of the day said, “The changes are aimed at ensuring all Victorians have 
access to the office’s services regardless of income, social grouping, ethnic origin or geographical location.”

In 1994, State Trustees became a State-owned company as part of the Government’s program to make public enterprises 
more efficient. Now, State Trustees competes on an even footing with the private sector, offering an array of financial and 
legal services to all Victorians, such as financial planning, taxation advice, Wills, estate planning and Enduring Powers of 
Attorney and annually provides a return to the Government.

State Trustees also represents approximately 9,000 Victorians living with a disability, experience of mental illness or other 
special need, who have been assigned to State Trustees by a Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal order.

Today State Trustees continues to work to provide Victorians access to a range of financial services to help them protect  
the important things in their lives, no matter their circumstances or life stage.
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Since assuming this position on 1 
December 2008, I have gained a deeper 
understanding of the company, its services, 
clients and staff. During the year I have 
witnessed impressive performances by team 
members across the company; each one 
dedicated to ensuring the best possible 
result in a challenging commercial 
environment – challenging because of 
world economies and the nature of  

 our business.

Every day, State Trustees’ people work to help clients protect the 
important things in their lives. Whether starting a family or 
contemplating retirement, launching a business venture or being 
appointed a legal administrator, planning for loved ones’ futures, 
or coming to terms with the realities life presents us, I am proud  
of the commitment this business has to undertaking every task 
with sensitivity, patience and understanding. 

In our 70th year, State Trustees has demonstrated it truly does 
have the interests of our customers, staff and the residents of 
Victoria, at heart. Therefore, it is fitting that in this milestone year 
we have made strategic decisions to ensure our ability to support 
these groups for the next 70 years.

On 1 April 2009 we announced our decentralisation strategy to 
enable us to move closer to our clients, and move many of our jobs 
closer to staff members’ homes.

Called ‘STL2020’ this project reflects not only the aspiration of the 
business, but the commitment of our people to make our services 
accessible to more people throughout Victoria. We have now 
announced Dandenong as the first new site in this decentralisation 
program and look forward to the journey as we continue to work  
to better meet the needs of our clients into the future.

As we deliver milestones throughout this transformation, I am 
confident that the skills and enthusiasm of our people will be 
maintained along the way. 

During this past financial year, the global financial crisis has 
dominated the financial theme across all industries, bringing a 
myriad of challenges to all Victorians. At State Trustees, such 
challenges impact not only our clients, as we work to help them 
manage their personal challenges, but also our operations as we 
seek to weather economic highs and lows.

For the Board, it has been inspiring to observe the prudent manner 
in which our people have gone about assessing and addressing 
these challenges, and delivering results that have been truly  
first class.

Since contemplating the scale of the economic downturn in 2008 
and adopting a realistic reforecast, we have brought our financial 
result in on the figures made at year’s start to deliver a post-tax 
profit of $667,000. This achievement adds to our financial 
credibility and reputation. 
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Another achievement of which I am proud this year is the 
strong links we have built with Government. As a corporatised 
Government entity our efforts this year and our proven 
commercial achievements have given us the opportunity  
to work more closely with our shareholder on a range of 
opportunities, with mutual benefit. 

As Chair, it has also been a highlight of the term to get to 
know the people at State Trustees. As a Board member, 
one can be remote, but having the privilege of spending 
more time in the organisation and being part of the 
excitement of bringing the STL2020 program to reality has 
been a great pleasure. Projects like this can often be long 
and drawn out, but to see our people demonstrate the 
ability to bring the new Southern Service Centre in 
Dandenong to life so quickly, so that we can start to realise 
our vision has been outstanding. This demonstrates that 
the future for our clients and our business is in safe hands.   

As Victorian communities face the challenges of growing 
and ageing populations it is assuring to know that State 
Trustees has the interests of the Victorian community  
at heart.

I am always impressed by the patience and care our people 
provide our customers and the lengths we will go to assist. 
I enjoy seeing the regular acts of the care and attention  
we provide our clients and am buoyed to know these 
services will be here for many years to come.

State Trustees is under no misapprehension that the year 
ahead will be an easy one. The challenges before us are 
significant as we guide the business through continuing 
uncertain financial climates while working to deliver our 
decentralised model, and necessary new technology 
platforms to support it. 

The challenge for the business as we go about these tasks 
will be to ensure we do not lose sight of the needs of our 
clients, and maintain the momentum and excitement for 
this journey to this better business model. Based on the 
commitment and achievement of our people this year, I 
am confident these challenges will be overcome. 

And as we build this better organisation for our clients, 
Victorians and our staff, I know they will be even more 
delighted with what we do for them. 

Everyone has put in a huge effort to make sure we had the 
successful year that we did, and I would like to commend 
Managing Director Tony Fitzgerald and the whole team for 
their efforts in making this possible. Thank you very much.

I am delighted to be involved with an organisation of such 
standing and reputation as it takes on the initiatives of the 
coming year to make our important services available to  
even more Victorians.

Julie Elliott Chair

Above: Board Members from left:   
Linda G Berry BA, LLB (Hons) 
Patrick Burroughs 
Annette W Broadfoot, MBA, B Bus (Acc) 
Julie A Elliott, MBA (Exec), BEc, FCA, MAICD, SA Fin 
Anthony Fitzgerald BBus, CPA, MAICD 
John R E Price, LLB 
Paula M Allen, CFA, FCA

Absent: Dr Irene Irvine PhD Chem, BSc [Hons], DipEd, GradDip  
[Admin], FRACI, AICD, AFAIM
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Chairman’s Report
As we embark  
upon an exciting 
period of development 
and opportunity for 
State Trustees, I am 
pleased to present  
this, my first annual 
report as the Chair  
of this dynamic and 
inspiring business.



I am proud of what we have achieved, due mainly to careful cost 
control and the continued strength of our core products.  
We now look to a positive turn in the economic cycle that will enable 
us to recover the robustness in our revenue streams and provide us 
with the opportunity to do more things in our business, while ensuring 
we can keep providing our critical services to help Victorians.  

Throughout the year we have continued to work to improve 
business performance. Many of our initiatives are discussed within 
this Annual Report but there are a few I would like to touch on.    

One of the most exciting programs we are undertaking, and one 
that you will read about in future annual reports, is ‘STL2020’. 
This program has been designed to help ensure State Trustees has 
the ability and agility to realise our vision “to be known for 
outstanding service to our customers”. As probably the largest  
and most important project we have undertaken in the company’s 
history, STL2020 involves a move to a decentralised business 
model that recognises we need to be closer and more responsive 
to our clients. This will also enable us to be proactive in terms of 
business development, client servicing and relationship 
management.   

Our confidence in SLT2020 is reinforced through research of our 
clients’ needs. Of particular interest has been the emerging trend 
among Victorians to seek their financial services closer to home, 
rather than in the CBD. Increasing numbers of new clients at our 
Glen Waverley office has strengthened our resolve to meet the 
needs of clients who no longer want to travel to the CBD to meet 
their personal financial needs, and take these services closer to 
where they live. 

Achieving this decentralised model will require a massive effort on 
behalf of the company. However, the change makes sound 
strategic and business sense, which is recognised in the support we 
have received for the program from our shareholder, the Treasurer 
and Government. 

This support comes from an ongoing deeper working relationship 
with our shareholder as we seek to increase understanding on both 
sides, in an effort to draw the best possible outcomes from our 
services for the State of Victoria. 

One achievement that demonstrates a greater connection with 
Victorians is the improvement measured in this year’s results of our 
annual client survey, the Client Value Index (CVI). This annual 
program helps us understand the aspects of service that clients 
really value and determines how the business is delivering against 
those expectations. The CVI is a composite index that reflects our 
clients’ preference for State Trustees over our competitors, their 
willingness to buy more of our services and their willingness to 
recommend us to others. The CVI score achieved this year was 
71per cent, compared with 62 per cent the previous year. The 
most pleasing aspect of this result is that we had worked hard to 
address the areas that had been identified in previous results and 
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Managing  
Director’s Report

our clients recognised the improvements. Even though the 
strategies and activities we put in place had the desired result, 
we will not be resting on our laurels. We are already analysing 
the results of the latest survey to help determine what else we 
can do to continue improving our clients’ experiences. 

I also want to provide a brief update on the progress of the five 
year strategic plan that was set in 2006. We have been making 
solid progress in delivering the strategies and achieving the 
objectives we had set ourselves, while maintaining flexibility to 
make adjustments as required. An example has been the 
recognition that the provision of Will services is our lead 
commercial product, because that is the product people most 
readily understand. In comparison, the notion of ‘estate 
planning’ is not as well understood by the public. Therefore, 
instead of maintaining a market push with a broad estate 
planning offering, we are moving ahead with an emphasis  
on the Will as the lead commercial product and using this 
engagement to introduce other products and services to  
our clients.

The last area that I would like to touch on is the strategic review 
completed during the year of our investment philosophy and 
fund structure, undertaken in conjunction with Mercer.  
Following the review, we put the revised requirements out to 
tender, with the provision of asset consulting services being won 
by Russell Investment Management Ltd, and the investment 
administration services by State Street Australia Ltd. These fund 
structures have been established and all of our existing funds 
have now been transitioned to new funds. Branded as ‘InveST’, 
we now have an extremely competitive suite of investment funds 
across all asset classes that we can use as a platform for serving 
our existing clients, as well as providing wholesale and retail 
opportunities going forward.  

Finally, on behalf of State Trustees’ management and the Board, 
I would like to publicly recognise the extraordinary efforts of the 
entire team this year. Despite the pressure of the difficult 
economic cycle, we have weathered the storm and remain in 
good shape. This bodes well for the future and is in great part 
due to the efforts of everyone at State Trustees. 

Anthony (Tony) G Fitzgerald Managing Director
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There is no doubt  
that for all companies, 
2008/09 has been an 
extremely tough year. 
State Trustees is no 
exception. However, 
we have managed to 
achieve a satisfactory 
result given the 
circumstances of the 
global financial crisis.  



As a Trustee company, State Trustees offers the following products 
and services:

Administration services under VCAT orders  This service is provided by our 
Personal Financial Solutions Division (PFS) on appointment by the Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) under an administration order to manage and protect the 
financial and legal interests of Victorians who, due to mental illness, injury, disability or 
other circumstances, are unable to do so themselves. 

Executor Services  As Executor nominated in a Will or authorised by an existing 
Executor of an Estate, we administer deceased estates professionally, impartially and with 
empathy for the family and beneficiaries.

Attorneyship Services (Enduring Powers of Attorney [EPAs])  Looking after 
the financial and legal affairs of clients who have appointed State Trustees to act for them 
through an Enduring Power of Attorney (Financial).

Preparation of Wills and Enduring Powers of Attorney  Helping clients plan for 
their future needs through the provision of specialist legal documents to give them peace 
of mind about management of their affairs in their final years and after their death.

Trustee Services  The creation and administration of Trusts to meet a wide variety of 
circumstances that can arise in peoples’ lives, such as protecting vulnerable individuals and 
impartially balancing the competing needs of family members.

Investment Services  A range of funds to help clients and other investors achieve 
their financial goals, including our InveST funds.

Charitable Trusts  Including the State Trustees Australia Foundation, offering 
individuals and companies an easy and effective way of giving to a range of charities 
across Australia.

Government Trusts  Trustee services for government projects where an important 
custodial role is required. For example, we manage Melbourne’s Federation Square and 
Australian Synchrotron Beamlines Trusts.

Financial Planning and Taxation Services  Tailored advice and services provided 
by qualified professionals to best suit individual needs and objectives.

Probate Genealogy  Finding beneficiaries and ‘next of kin’ who have an entitlement 
under deceased estates, carried out by Australia’s largest probate genealogy team.

Residents Trust Fund  Funds administration services on behalf of the Department of 
Human Services.

VCAT Examination Services  Review services for the examination of the annual 
financial accounts of private administrators appointed by VCAT.

Funeral Fund  A capital-guaranteed, traditional life insurance investment fund, issued 
and administered by the Ancient Order of Foresters in Victoria Friendly Society Limited 
(Foresters Friendly Society).
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Core Purpose:
To help people with their financial  
needs so they can make the most  
of their opportunities

Vision:
To be known for outstanding  
service to our clients

We Value:
n Being the best at  

what we do

n Acting with honesty  
and integrity

n Open communication

n Encouraging  
and recognising 
achievement and 
initiative

n Respecting and  
caring about each 
other, our clients  
and the community

Our Core Purpose, 
Vision and Values

Our Products and Services



Products and Services
n  Management of more than 3,500 Trusts, valued at $255 million. 
n  Completion of 1,889 deceased estates and administrations.
n  Management of $49 million in our Charitable Trusts, from which $1.2 million was distributed 

to charities and organisations.
n  Consolidation of our engagement of State Street Australia Limited and Russell Investments  

as part of our Investment Structure project.
n  Writing of more than 2,000 Wills and 1,000 Enduring Powers of Attorney.
n  Completion of more than 6,000 income taxation returns and administrative reviews.
n  Increasing our annual Client Value Index score from 62 per cent to 71 per cent.

People
n  Implementation of a comprehensive competency framework designed to support technical 

excellence across the business.
n  Significant enhancement of our health and wellbeing program to include more targeted initiatives.
n  Development and implementation of a psychological wellbeing program designed to support 

staff within and outside of work.
n  Rollout of an environment management program to address environmental issues and reduce 

our carbon footprint.
n  Implementation of a disability action plan designed to promote inclusion and reduce barriers 

for people living with a disability.
n  Introduction of a flexible working solutions policy and program, and working parents toolkit, to 

maximise the level of workplace flexibility for employees.
n  Hosting a candidate open day aimed at marketing our business to potential employees and 

recruiting skilled, committed staff to the Personal Financial Solutions Division.

Stakeholder relations
n Delivery of independent stakeholder research assessing the quality of relationships between 

State Trustees and individual stakeholders, as well as between stakeholders themselves.
n Development and endorsement of a comprehensive stakeholder engagement strategy that 

recognises the opportunities for improved business outcomes available through mutually 
beneficial stakeholder engagement.  

n Launching a three-year research project with Monash University on financial elder abuse,  
a significant social issue on which we are engaging with government, service providers and 
the community sector.

n Bringing together a record 120 artists with a disability or experience of mental illness by 
hosting the connected09™ art exhibition. 

n Linking with legal, community and government organisations to offer our help as part of the 
government’s bushfire assistance following Black Saturday.

n Increasing our profile in the community through extensive media coverage across 
metropolitan, regional, radio and daily media. 
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Performance Highlight Snapshot 2008/09
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Operational Excellence
n Meeting customer contact centre call response targets within current resourcing,  

despite a 17 per cent increase in call volumes.
n Improving processes to double the number of client reviews undertaken each year, without 

increasing the number of personnel required.
n The Intensive Needs Team being named a winner in the 2009 Melbourne Awards.
n Implementing process changes within Executor Services to help deliver ongoing service 

improvements in a timely and efficient manner.
n Creating compliance registers for all our key activities.
n Successfully ensuring compliance with Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Terrorism Funding 

legislation phase two requirements.
n Achieving best practice status in an independent audit of our complaints resolution process. 
n Marked 70 years of serving Victorians.

Infrastructure
n Development of a business case for STL2020, which involves a phased relocation of  

State Trustees to create a decentralised network.
n Introduction of Chameleon, our new document producing software which significantly 

reduces the time to prepare and deliver a Will.
n Replacement of the entire PC fleet across the organisation, providing wide screen monitors, 

significant power savings and upgrading our standard desktop operating environment to  
MS Office 2007.

n Upgrading State Trustees’ Asset and Trust Information System (STRATIS) to the latest version 
of ‘Oracle’ Financials.

n Preparation of an infrastructure road map that enables us to understand our future 
technological expenditure needs.

n Improving technology performance levels for our Glen Waverley and Mornington offices.
n Development of an external service providers’ framework to ensure a consistent approach  

to managing the performance reporting for all of our service providers.  



About us
State Trustees’ core purpose is to help people with their financial needs so they can make the most of their opportunities.  
Every day we do this through the provision of a comprehensive range of Will making, trustee, executor and personal 
financial administration products and services, tailored to the needs of each client.

This Annual Report covers both State Trustees Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting  
of State Trustees Limited and STL Financial Services Limited.

Responsive to our community
State Trustees, through its predecessors, was established 70 years ago and has operated for more than a decade as  
a public company, owned by the State of Victoria. 

We provide our clients with ready access to an efficient complaints process through which to raise and resolve any concerns 
or queries regarding service. Clients can access our Client Concerns Manager via phone, online or in writing. Every query is 
thoroughly investigated in a timely manner. We analyse queries to determine the cause of concerns and ensure appropriate 
action is taken to improve client-based processes. Broader analysis is also undertaken to determine systemic opportunities 
for change. We also engage with the Office of the Ombudsman of Victoria in resolving client queries as required. During 
2008 we received independent commendation for the manner in which we conduct investigations of clients’ concerns by 
both Deloittes Auditors and the Victorian Ombudsman.

Our strategic direction
The Board of Directors and management team determined State Trustees’ overall strategic direction, which is outlined in 
our Strategic Plan 2006-2011. 

This plan was established in 2005, when State Trustees undertook a major strategic review, which resulted in the creation 
of the Strategic Plan 2006-2011. Priorities from this plan form the basis of the Corporate Plan, which sets annual 
performance objectives and targets. Annual Corporate Plans are submitted to the Department of Treasury and Finance  
for review and feedback.

Five key result areas were identified upon which the organisation now focuses in order to achieve its business goals.   
These are:
n Products and Services
n People
n Stakeholder Relationships
n Operational Excellence
n Infrastructure.

In preparing the Corporate Plan for the 2008/09 financial year, State Trustees sought to consolidate its ongoing improvement 
in service offerings and delivery standards, and renew our emphasis on ensuring State Trustees’ clients needs are at the 
heart of our business operations.

Organisational chart

Board of Directors

Personal
Financial
Solutions

David
Johnstone

Executor
+ Trustee
Services

Ross
McDonald

Estate
Planning

Doug
Summer

Corporate
Relations +
Marketing

Alexandra
Axford

Corporate
Strategy +
Innovation

Andrew
Lloyde

Corporate
Operations

Prue
Willsford

STL2020

John
Brennan

People
+ Culture

Andrew 
Schuette

(Acting GM)

Managing Director
Anthony (Tony) Fitzgerald
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Organisational Profile

Corporate Leadership Team 
L>R:  Prue Willsford, Ross McDonald, John Brennan, Tony Fitzgerald  
(Managing Director), Doug Sumner, David Johnstone, Andrew Schuette,  
Andrew Lloyde, Alexandra Axford.
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Key Performance Indicators
State Trustees has developed Key Performance Indicators in line with our Strategic Plan 2006-2011, identified as five 
key strategic initiatives.

Profit and Revenue
In the 2008/09 financial year, State Trustees achieved an operating result after tax of $667,000 (2008: $3,113,000), 
reflecting the tough financial climate. During the year, our revenue increased by 4.65 per cent (2008: 12.0 per cent) to 
$55,450,000. 

The returns on our corporate investment portfolio for the year were -$315,000 (2008: -$82,000). 

Throughout the year we continued to see a growth in client numbers, which will contribute to the sustainability of our 
business and revenue growth in future years.

Measuring our performance
State Trustees measures its performance on various levels. These include:

n our value to our clients

n our value to our shareholder; and

n the level of our employees’ engagement

Each of these groups has specific expectations of State Trustees and the following indicators are used to measure our 
performance relating to these expectations.

Client Value Index
In 2007 State Trustees developed a Client Value Index (CVI), to help us understand the aspects of service that clients really 
value, and determines how the business is delivering against those expectations. This year, feedback was gathered from 
more than 1,000 clients. 

The CVI is a composite index that reflects our clients’ preference for State Trustees over our competitors, their willingness to 
buy more of our services and their willingness to recommend us to others. The CVI score achieved in 2007/08 was 62 per 
cent and in 2008/09 was 71 per cent.

This outcome was particularly pleasing as significant investment has been made over the past 12 months to improve the 
aspects of service that are most important to our clients. As a result, we are pleased to report that more than three-quarters 
of the clients surveyed would not hesitate in recommending State Trustees.

The feedback collected helps us identify opportunities to keep improving future service delivery and set improvement 
targets each year, and will help us shape the way we provide service to our clients as we work towards a decentralised 
business model.

Employee engagement
State Trustees conducted its fifth annual staff engagement survey in November 2008, with participation by 81.2 per cent  
of our people.

This year’s survey resulted in an engagement index of 80.1 per cent, which is in line with the previous year’s score and 
continues to be one of the highest index scores recorded by the external agency in their work with companies across many 
industries.  This was particularly pleasing given the ongoing refinements to process and service delivery during this period.

In addition to set response feedback, the survey encouraged free-form comments which provided input to a range of 
business operations during the year, including improvements for customer service and business processes.

In the coming year we will continue to refine the survey to help gain a better understanding of our staff expectations  
and engagement.
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Reviewing and Measuring  
our performance
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Products & Services
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Our public profile and reputation depends largely on the way in which we 
deliver our products and services. This year’s highlights include:

n Management of more than 3,500 Trusts, currently valued at $255 million. 

n Completion of 1,889 deceased estates.

n Management of $49 million in our Charitable Trusts, from which $1.2 million was distributed  
to charities and organisations.

n Consolidation of our relationships with State Street Australia Ltd and Russell Investment 
Management Ltd as part of our Investment Structure project.

n Writing of more than 2,000 Will and 1,000 Enduring Power of Attorney documents.

n Completion of more than 6,000 income taxation returns and administrative reviews.

n Increasing our annual Client Value Index score from 62 per cent to 71 per cent.
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Products  
and Services
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Administrative Services under  
VCAT orders
Our Personal Financial Solutions Division (PFS) manages  
and protects the financial and legal interests of Victorians  
for whom State Trustees has been appointed by the Victorian 
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) under administration 
orders. These appointments are made when people are 
unable to manage their affairs themselves due to mental 
illness, injury, disability or other circumstances. During the 
year the number of Victorians we supported through these 
services increased to more than 9,000 people.

Community Service Obligation 
Agreement
We are currently into the second year of a five-year 
Community Service Obligation (CSO) agreement between 
State Trustees and the Minister for Community Services.  
This is State Trustees’ largest contract. Under the agreement, 
State Trustees provides a range of financial services to 
vulnerable Victorians to fulfil the State’s obligation in 
ensuring these services are provided to all Victorians, 
irrespective of whether or not the clients can afford to obtain 
the services for themselves. The CSO agreement sets out the 
details of our obligations in this area and stipulates that these 
services are carried out to a standard that meets community 
expectations. The agreement also allows for the State to 
partially fund services where the clients are unable to  
meet the costs. 

Trustee Services
Throughout 2008/09, we continued to build our trustee 
services business. We established 190 new Trusts, with 
assets ranging from $5,000 to $1 million, and a total  
Trusts assets under management value of $255 million.  
We currently manage around 3,528 Trusts.

We have been custodian Trustee to a large number of 
Government organisations for almost 20 years. Our 
personal Trust clients range in age, cultural background 
and economic circumstances, and we offer highly 
personalised levels of service to suit clients’ specific needs.

Having a Trust means clients can give a trustee a scope of 
control over some of their assets, during the client’s lifetime 
and even after death. Trusts can be set up for reasons as 
diverse as funding a child’s education, protecting the future 
for a loved one with a disability after the death of a guardian, 
protecting assets for future generations or shielding assets 
from legal challenges. 

State Trustees specialises in three kinds of personal Trusts: 
Minors’ Trusts, Life interest Trusts and Charitable Trusts. State 
Trustees can tailor a Trust to suit clients’ needs. This may be 
to maintain a portfolio of investments until the Trust assets 
can be passed on to family members, help with a disabled 
relative’s needs, and manage a child’s inheritance or simply 
to provide hassle-free financial management of funds.

Minors’ Trusts are designed to protect and grow funds for 
children until they reach the age of 18. Life Interest Trusts 
usually involve major assets such as a house or large share 
portfolio. With the increasing incidence of second marriages, 
these Trusts are becoming more popular as an effective way 
to pass assets to children, while still allowing a spouse or 
partner to benefit from them during their lifetime.

Products & Services
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Wills and Enduring Powers  
of Attorney
State Trustees is unique in the way we help our clients to 
plan for the future. While many other organisations start 
with a financial plan, our approach to assuring a person’s 
financial security is to make their Will and Enduring Powers 
of Attorney (EPA) the centrepiece of future plans. State 
Trustees’ Estate Planning division’s services help clients 
develop a solid plan that includes financial and tax-
effective solutions directed at helping them to grow, 
protect and ultimately share their wealth.

If a person dies without a Will, they are deemed ‘intestate’, 
and under these conditions their assets are distributed 
according to a set legislative formula. But more 
importantly, it may not reflect the precise wishes of the 
individual who has worked a lifetime to accumulate the 
assets being distributed. It is important to regularly update 
a Will, particularly if relationships have changed, assets 
bequeathed have been sold, and new assets acquired, or if 
there has been a birth or death of intended beneficiaries.

With that in mind, during the past year State Trustees has 
embarked on a strategy to build on the geographic scope 
of our coverage. We are currently implementing a program 
of regularly visiting major regional centres. The 
preparation of Wills for regional Victorians is a major 
platform of this initiative.

This year we wrote more than 2,000 Wills. More than  
40 per cent of these were for new clients. Total Wills made 
were consistent with our numbers for the past two years 
and we expect the improvements delivered through 
enhanced technology will enable us to increase this 
dramatically in coming years.

Changing situations
When Joan made her Will in 1990, her son 
Robert was happily married to his wife, Julie. 
Joan divided her sizeable estate into two parts 
– one to her daughter Cathy and the other 
equally between her son and his wife. 

Unfortunately, Robert and Julie divorced after 10 
years of marriage. It was an acrimonious divorce, 
and Joan and her ex-daughter-in-law argued 
bitterly. They did not see each other before Joan 
died suddenly in 2003. 

Joan had not changed her Will since 1990, and 
as a result, her ex-daughter-in-law Julie, now 
married to someone else, inherited one quarter 
of her estate, under the terms of Joan’s Will.

Financial Planning
Once they have completed their Will, many clients 
recognise the need for a financial plan. A good plan 
combines insurance, investment, tax planning and of 
course, retirement planning and wealth preservation.  
This has the twin goal of providing for financial 
independence in retirement and leaving an estate  
for beneficiaries. 

Given the impact of the global financial crisis, the 
performance of the financial planning team was 
outstanding. Our financial planners increased their  
clients’ assets under management by 5.25 per cent. 
Overall, they increased external financial planning funds 
under advice by $2.85 million to nearly $54 million. 

State Trustees is a principal member of the Financial 
Planning Association. Our planners undertake regular and 
extensive training, so that they can provide clients with 
quality and current advice. After preparing a client’s Will 
and EPA, we can introduce them to our financial planning 
experts who can help them prepare for life’s financial 
challenges, such as buying a home or just preparing for 
the unexpected.

Making compensation pay
Joanne was in an accident that took her 
husband’s life and left her with permanent 
injuries. As a result she received a payout for  
his death and an award for her own injuries.

Joanne was daunted by the task of managing the 
large sum she received and was concerned about 
how she and her two small children would get 
maximum benefit from it.

When Joanne’s solicitor referred her to State 
Trustees, we developed a financial plan and 
invested the funds prudently to maximise her 
investment income. This included providing 
taxation advice to help minimise the impact on  
her Centrelink entitlements and setting up a  
Trust for her children’s future.

Tax Services
State Trustees’ tax experts provide a broad range of tax 
services including preparing and lodging tax returns for 
individuals, partnerships, Trusts, companies and self-
managed superannuation funds. In addition we provide 
advice on a range of GST and Capital Gains Tax related 
matters.

We help clients with year-end tax planning, tax effective 
structures and investments. We can also help prepare and 
lodge business and instalment activity statements. 

In the 2008/09 financial period, Taxation Advisory Services 
completed more than 6,000 individual income taxation 
returns and administrative reviews. For the first time, 
revenue topped $2 million. 

Enduring Powers of Attorney
An important element of our business is writing and 
managing Enduring Powers of Attorney (EPAs).

With an EPA, a person voluntarily assigns authority over 
their legal and financial affairs to another person or 
organisation. At State Trustees we regularly prepare EPA 
documents on our clients’ behalf, and prepared 1,000 
documents during the year. An EPA provides the solution 
for a range of situations including where someone 

Our Charitable Trusts are varied, with purposes as diverse 
as: provision of a PhD medical scholarship for breast 
cancer; to benefit those suffering from Tuberculosis; 
supporting children’s medical research; and contribution 
to an education scholarship for young refugees being 
among the many areas supported.

We have $49 million under management in our Charitable 
Trusts, with the number of those administered increasing 
from 208 to 218 during the year. The State Trustees 
Australia Foundation paid $1.2 million to charities and 
organisations during the year. 

In December 2008, we launched the first of our biannual 
Charitable Trusts newsletters. The aim of this initiative is  
to share some of the inspiring stories undertaken by our 
Charitable Trusts that have been supported as a result  
of generous donors and benefactors. 

Deceased Estate Administration
State Trustees is one of Victoria’s largest expert providers of 
Executor services. Last year we managed 1,277 deceased 
estates (556 Section 79 Estates and 721 Full Grants) and 
lodged more than 651 probate applications.

Being an Executor and administering a deceased estate  
is a complex and often thankless task. It involves being 
responsible for distributing the deceased’s estate in 
accordance with their wishes, as expressed in their Will. 
However, an Executor’s duties are quite complex and time 
consuming and include arranging the funeral, identifying 
and managing assets, and working out and paying debts. 
In addition, an Executor needs to manage claims brought 
by creditors or those who believe they are entitled to a 
share (or greater share) of the estate. As well as paying 
estate taxes, Executors need to calculate and pay any tax 

owed by the deceased. Distributing the estate’s proceeds 
to beneficiaries named in the Will is the easy bit.

In essence, the Executor is the estate’s representative for 
all legal purposes and has the ability to sue or be sued on 
behalf of the estate. Being an Executor has greater risk 
since changes to Victorian law broadened the category of 
those who can challenge a Will. Under these complex and 
time-consuming circumstances, it’s not surprising that 
many people turn to State Trustees to take over their 
Executorial duties.

State Trustees can be appointed as Executor when a Will  
is being prepared. Alternatively, a family member or friend 
who is named Executor in a Will can transfer the duties to 
us if they don’t want to take on this responsibility.

Gaining peace of mind 
John, a 52 year old businessman, asked if State 
Trustees could take over as Executor of his 
brother’s estate. His two surviving siblings were 
squabbling over who would get what, and one was 
even threatening to sue John for not taking steps 
to administer the estate quickly. Fortunately as 
John had not yet applied for Probate, State 
Trustees was happy to take on the administration 
of the estate.  

With State Trustees acting as Executor, John was 
relieved of the stress and personal risk, and was 
able to resume his own business and family 
commitments – with the peace of mind that 
everything would be taken care of.



18 19

experiences a significant life change or finds it too hard to 
manage their affairs, through to someone who is working 
overseas and needs their dealings in Australia managed 
while they’re away. We can activate an EPA any time a 
client requests it or when they lose the ability to make  
their own decisions.

Our EPA business has a dual approach. When clients 
contact State Trustees to prepare or update their Will,  
we offer them the option of preparing an EPA. If clients 
chose this option we write their EPA which can then  
remain dormant until they request that it is activated. 

We also recognise that some people want or need an  
EPA to be written and activated immediately. Where we 
are appointed, we may also be able to help a client 
address appropriate issues in their lives through our 
well-established relationships with hospital social  
workers, community case managers, nursing homes  
and various organisations.

This year we wrote and immediately activated 145  
new EPAs and activated another 59 that were previously 
inactive. Overall, we have more than 700 clients who 
chose us as their attorney to act for them under an EPA. 
Many of these have been with us for more than 10 years.

Isobel’s independence
Isobel lives alone and leads an active lifestyle,  
but in recent years has found her financial affairs 
becoming more demanding. Feeling overwhelmed 
and stressed, Isobel approached State Trustees for 
assistance. A State Trustees’ consultant met with 
Isobel to discuss her individual needs, and as a 
result, recommended activating an Enduring  
Power of Attorney (Financial).

Under an Enduring Power of Attorney (Financial), 
State Trustees worked with Isobel to help ensure  
her affairs would be managed professionally, and 
arranged the following:

n Collection of her pension and other income  
 from shares

n Payment of all her bills including a budget  
 and expenditure plan

n  Review of her finances to ensure all her   
 entitlements are tax and pension effective

n Preparation and lodgement of her tax returns, and

n Updated her Will according to her wishes and in  
 line with her current circumstances. 

Isobel is now delighted that she can maintain  
her independence.

Investments 
Last financial year, we began implementing a far-reaching 
restructure of our investment products and administration. 
This involved outsourcing important elements of the 
administration of our investment products to State  
Street Australia Ltd and appointing Russell Investment 
Management Ltd to advise us on the most appropriate 
investment products and strategies for the particular  
needs of our clients. 

State Street Australia Ltd is a recognised leader in the field 
of fund administration and brings significant resources and 
scale advantages to the administration of our products. 
Russell Investment Management Ltd is one of the world’s 
pre-eminent investment consulting firms.

This year, we consolidated our relationships with these 
partners and have moved from a passive to an active 
investment management approach, with the more than 
$770 million under management. This delivered significant 
benefits in helping protect our clients’ funds from the brunt 
of the financial crisis. 

Genealogy Services
A critical aspect of successfully administering an estate is 
the task of identifying and locating beneficiaries named in 
a Will or the next of kin where no Will exists. State Trustees’ 
Genealogy Team is the largest dedicated group of probate 
researchers in Australia. Probate genealogy combines 
traditional family history with legal, clerical and detective 
work, and our experts conduct searches both in Australia 
and overseas.  

During the financial year we located more than 1,700 
heirs who were entitled to benefit from an estate. In 
addition to an estate’s beneficiaries, the team has also 
successfully traced missing fund members, Executors  
and witnesses to a Will.

Finding entitlements
Bill is a young man with Bipolar Disorder who was 
living in a park in Melbourne’s northern suburbs.

One day police found him in a comatose state 
and he was admitted to hospital. When Bill was 
referred to us, we found he hadn’t received any 
Centrelink entitlements for three years. State 
Trustees helped him receive a back-payment  
of $34,000.

Bill is now living in supported accommodation 
and is linked with a local community mental 
health service.

    

Affinity Partners
Through our work with organisations of all size across 
Victoria, we have found that our services have proven 
particularly attractive to a range of non-bank financial 
institutions that are looking to enhance member affinity by 
providing a range of complimentary and aligned services. 

These offerings include Wills, tax, financial planning and 
estate planning. Government departments have also 
embraced the concept of using our services as an 
employee benefit, or as an enhancement to their employee 
benefit strategy and the package of services they provide.   

A holistic approach
When Mrs Carter approached State Trustees to 
help write her Will she knew what she wanted; to 
leave part of her estate to her family with the 
balance of her estate going to charity.

What she didn’t know was that her Will could be 
subject to a Testator Family Maintenance (TFM) 
claim after her death, especially as she had 
significant assets (including property, shares and 
superannuation) that might subsequently be 
claimed by her children.

State Trustees’ lawyers alerted Mrs. Carter to the 
possibility that her children could legally challenge 
her Will. Following the advice of our lawyers, Mrs 
Carter consulted one of State Trustees’ qualified 
financial planners who helped her prepare an 
estate plan and recommended setting up a 
discretionary Trust now, rather than under her 
Will. In the terms of the Trust, assets and income 
are available during Mrs Carter’s lifetime and 
arrangements made for her charitable wishes 
after her death.

Mrs Carter was also referred to a State Trustees’ 
taxation specialist who undertook a comprehensive 
review of her current situation and fully explained 
the possible consequences of transferring her 
assets into a discretionary Trust.

The Trust provides Mrs Carter with a greater 
degree of certainty over her assets. She now has 
access to her income and capital during her 
lifetime, and as the assets in Trust won’t form part 
of her estate after she dies, Mrs Carter has peace 
of mind in knowing that her wishes have been 
documented.

Working together, our professional services teams 
were able to provide Mrs Carter with comprehensive, 
holistic estate planning advice, individually 
tailored to meet her specific needs.

At State Trustees we have a full range of professional 
services to help our clients. Whether it is financial, legal  
or taxation advice, State Trustees can provide a 
‘one-stop’ shop to ensure all our clients get the best 
advice, when they need it.
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Our stakeholders are critical to our success and sustainable future and 
include our shareholder, funding bodies, government, business partners, 
regulators, industry bodies, community, clients, employees, suppliers, the 
media and academia. Over the past financial year, we have taken significant 
steps to enhance our stakeholder engagement and highlights include:
n Completion of independent stakeholder research assessing the quality of relationships between 

State Trustees and individual stakeholders, as well as between stakeholders themselves.
n Development and endorsement of a comprehensive stakeholder engagement strategy that 

recognises the mutually beneficial opportunities available through stakeholder engagement.  
n Launching a three-year research project with Monash University on financial elder abuse, a 

significant social issue on which we are engaging with government, service providers and the 
community sector.

n Bringing together a record 120 artists with a disability or experience of mental illness through 
hosting of the connected09™art exhibition. 

n Linking with legal, community and government organisations to offer our help as part of the 
government’s bushfire assistance following Black Saturday.

Stakeholder Engagement Strategy
The endorsement of our stakeholder engagement strategy 
during the year provided the impetus for State Trustees to 
further embed a culture of stakeholder engagement across 
the company over the remainder of financial year 2008/09. 

One of the immediate activities from our strategy was to 
embark on a program of visits by key stakeholders to areas 
of our business. We started with tours of our cash-
dispensing facility at Little Bourke Street, and our Client 
Contact Centre which receives around 4,000 calls a week. 
The feedback received suggests these visits have been 
invaluable in helping our stakeholders gain an 
understanding of our clients’ needs and how we support 
them. Stakeholder engagement has also included informal 
discussions with community stakeholders to increase 
understanding of our respective operations and how we 
may work together for the benefit of our mutual clients. 
Other features of our commitment to stakeholder 
relationships include: 

n Participation in a range of legal, community and 
government workshops, conferences and seminars and 
in a variety of professional communities of practice in 
the public sector.

n Biannual distribution of ‘Your State Trustee’, a 
newsletter for Victorian Members of Parliament  
and Members of the Legislative Council.

n Joining the Institute of Public Administration Australia 
Victoria as a Corporate Gold Member, enabling us to 
more fully engage with our public sector colleagues. 

n The creation of our internal Corporate Responsibility 
Working Group which oversees our corporate 
community partnerships, with Mornington Peninsula 
Shire, the City of Monash and Alzheimer’s Australia Vic.

n Participation in a cross-agency working group on 
financial elder abuse. 

n Hosting and chairing Philanthropy Australia’s Ageing 
Futures Affinity Group, which provides a forum for 
philanthropists to engage in discussions with opinion 
leaders in ageing and seniors issues. 

Marketing
One of the main marketing initiatives undertaken this year 
was an all-encompassing brand strategy review.  
Recognising that our brand may not best reflect the nature 
of our business and our efforts to help Victorians with the 
important things in their lives, we engaged a specialist 
brand agency to help us create a new brand that better 
reflects our financial and social commitment to Victorians. 
After a comprehensive internal and external process,  
the result was a positioning line that captures both the 
commercial and social obligations of our business.  
The new brand strategy will be unveiled in the new 
financial year, along with the other elements of the 
rebranding exercise. 

Stakeholder 
Relationships

Stakeholder 
Relationships
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Other major marketing initiatives include: 

n A series of promotional activities and communication 
and marketing exercises revolving around the Glen 
Waverley and Mornington branches to highlight our 
presence in these areas, and the range of services 
available through these branches to the community. 

n Developing a service offering to support those impacted 
by the tragic Black Saturday bushfires.

n Continued involvement with the Victorian Seniors’ 
Festival, providing cultural, social, physical and 
intellectual pursuits, as well as special offers to older 
Victorians.

n A range of direct marketing campaigns to support 
clients and other Victorians who need assistance 
managing life’s priorities.

n Engagement with key alliance organisations, including 
Australian Lawyers Alliance, Department of Human 
Services, Police Credit Union and WorkSafe. 

n An Executor campaign offering help to those who have 
recently lost a loved one and are now facing the task  
of finalising their affairs.  

On a sad note, this year saw the passing of Charles  
‘Bud’ Tingwell, an esteemed former spokesman for  
State Trustees. Bud fronted many of our campaigns  
and for many Victorians he was the face of State Trustees.  
He will be greatly missed. 

Media  
Over 2008/09 State Trustees received a great deal of 
positive media coverage as we worked to raise awareness 
and understanding of State Trustees and the services we 
deliver. Coverage has been overwhelmingly positive for 
State Trustees, with a range of articles highlighting the 
good work of the organisation across a range of areas. 

Throughout the year State Trustees enjoyed four key 
features, including a feature on genealogy that ran in a 
‘Sunday Age’ magazine, a segment on Channel Nine’s top 
rating ’ A Current Affair’ program highlighting the work of 
State Trustees’ genealogy department in tracking down 
beneficiaries of Wills, a front page full-colour feature in  
the Domain section of the ‘Sunday Age’ on the work State 
Trustees does to help people sell property after a loved 
one’s death and a quirky ‘Sunday Herald Sun’ front page 
feature on two of our more unusual beneficiaries –dogs 
who inherited $700,000. The story also covered some  
of the more unusual Trusts held by State Trustees.

Other key areas of media coverage for the organisation 
during the year included articles on the State Trustees 
Australia Foundation (STAF) grants, State Trustees 
Community Grants program and the State Trustees-run 
connected™art exhibition, for people with a disability or 
experience of mental illness. 

Towards the end of the year, a great deal of State Trustees’ 
media coverage focussed on raising awareness of 
financial elder abuse, which helped position the 
organisation as experts in the field. Much of the media 
coverage revolved around our three-year research project, 
Protecting Elders’ Asset Study: Ethical Management of 
Older Persons’ Financial Assets, which examines the 
evidence surrounding this underreported, often 
unrecognised problem.  

Supporting our 
Community
State Trustees is an active supporter 
of our clients and the community.
To achieve this we support many community groups, 
councils, charities and organisations, events and festivals 
through active participation, donations or sponsorships. 
Our strong focus on community involvement is reflected in 
the initiatives we have in place that provide funding and 
support to the community. These initiatives include: 

n State Trustees Community Grants  
n State Trustees Australia Foundation 
n Private Charitable Trusts
n State Trustees’ connected09™ art exhibition
n Community partnerships (Mornington Peninsula Shire, 

City of Monash and Alzheimer’s Australia Vic)
n State Trustees Charity Ball
n Sponsorships.

Community Grants 
State Trustees fully funds the State Trustees Grants 
Program as an extension of our already strong community 
support. Since its launching in 2003, grants have helped 
make a difference in the ability of community organisations 
to support their clients.  

State Trustees’ people are directly involved in the process 
through the grant selection panel, with some attending 
grants presentations.

Grants distributed through the State Trustees Grants 
Program range in value from $500 to $5,000 and must  
be used to fund projects that will specifically contribute to 
improving the quality of life of older Victorians, people  
with a disability or mental illness, or people coping with 
bereavement. A total of approximately $40,000 in grants 
was distributed during the 2008/09 financial year. 

SIGNIFICANT RESEARCH

“The financial elder abuse research commissioned by  
State Trustees is very important – perhaps the most  
significant work anyone is currently doing in Victoria,”  
Dr Gerry Naughtin, Co-Convener, Australian Network for the Prevention of Elder Abuse.
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Community Partnerships
This was the first year of our community partnerships with 
two local councils, the City of Monash and Mornington 
Peninsula Shire. Thanks to State Trustees’ support, the 
Shire’s successful Dial-A-Bus service has been extended to 
Rye, Tootgarook and Rosebud West. The State Trustee 
logo is proving particularly noticeable with passengers 
ringing to make bookings on what they call ‘the State 
Trustee bus’.

Dial-A-Bus
‘I don’t know what I would do without this bus.  
My husband Rob and I have been catching the bus 
since January this year and it has been a life saver.  
Rob passed away on the 12th of May this year and  
I am dependant on the bus. I really appreciate the 
bus, the service is very good and the drivers are 
wonderful.’ – Rye resident. 

 

Our $10,000 grant supported the City of Monash’s Positive 
Ageing Lifestyles program and purchased computer 
equipment and audio books to improve accessibility for 
older residents and people with disabilities, at libraries in 
the area. The accessible computer stations have helped 
people with disabilities connect with both their local 

communities and the online world. State Trustees has also 
sponsored Ageing Well Expos and other activities within 
the municipalities and our staff have given presentations  
to council staff, health service providers and community 
groups about our products and services.

Another community partner, Alzheimer’s Australia Vic, is 
supported by funds raised by our Charity Ball. Funds raised 
last year supported two initiatives: Living with Memory Loss 
live-in retreats and Tastes to Remember events for people 
from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. A 
retreat was held in Lancefield for people newly-diagnosed 
with dementia and their carers, and another will be held in 
Swan Hill in August 2009. Led by specialist counsellors, 
the retreats help to prepare people to cope for a future 
with dementia. Held over three days, participants also 
have the opportunity to connect with and learn from others 
going through the same experience. People from Italian, 
Chinese and Greek communities attended the first of three 
Tastes to Remember events in June at Box Hill. Participants 
received information about memory loss and dementia in 
an informal environment, with culturally relevant food  
and entertainment. 

Below: The Dial-A-Bus displays the State Trustee Logo on every 
trip with drivers signing a confirmation of usage form each time 
the bus operates on the run.

This year’s Grants included funds for: 

n a program to provide shoes for the homeless;
n a community garden at an aged care facility in 

Portarlington; 
n the production of a poster to warn people about the 

hidden side effects of acquired brain injury (ABI);
n the construction of a permanent hobby shed in Coburg 

for intellectually disabled people to create craft work;
n two Nintendo Wii consoles, two large flat screen 

televisions and ancillary equipment for use in a new Wii 
connect exercise program that helps provide older and 
disabled people with gentle exercise;

n funding for one episode of the award winning ‘NO 
LIMITS’ television series, which is made for and about 
people with disabilities and aired weekly on community 
Channel 31.

In addition, this year State Trustees introduced a new 
grants category designed to help people who are coping 
with bereavement, further aligning our business with our 
support for the community. One of the successful recipients 
was the Barwon Bereavement Services who used the grant 
to print and distribute 1,000 copies of a booklet, ’Men 
Grieve Too’. The booklet features stories written by 
bereaved fathers, telling of their journey following the 
death of their child. The booklet enabled them to  
express their experiences while embarking on their  
own personal journey. 

Barwon Bereavement Services Inc.
23 June, 2009

Dear Tony

It was a pleasure to meet you this morning and to 
be presented with a Community Grant for $4,980. 

The bereaved men in this community, who have 
been part of the project and writing and revising 
their personal stories of their journeys after the 
sudden and unexpected death of a child, are 
delighted to see the product of their work published 
in this new and revised edition of the ‘Men Grieve 
Too’ booklet.

As you are aware, this booklet will be distributed 
free of charge to other fathers, grand fathers, 
uncles who are newly bereaved through the death 
of a child. These men take great comfort from the 
knowledge that others have taken a similar journey 
to the one they are beginning to experience. 

Thank you to the State Trustees for your 
partnership in the printing of this booklet. You are 
to be commended for your community spirit and 
involvement in grass roots bereavement support. 
We trust that this partnership may be mutually 
beneficial. 

On behalf of those bereaved, thank you again.

Kind regards 
Graham Morton Executive Officer (Hon)
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The employees of State Trustees continue to be our most valuable asset and 
in recognition of this, there has been significant investment in our people to 
help ensure that we are well placed to deliver upon the outstanding levels of 
service that State Trustees has become known for.

Highlights for our people throughout 2008/09 include:
n Implementation of a comprehensive competency framework designed to support technical 

excellence across the business.
n Significant enhancement of our health and wellbeing program to include more  

targeted initiatives.
n Development and implementation of a psychological wellbeing program designed to support 

staff within and outside of work.
n Rollout of an environment management program to address environmental issues and reduce 

our carbon footprint.
n Implementation of a disability action plan designed to promote inclusion and reduce barriers 

for people living with a disability.
n Introduction of a flexible working solutions policy and program, and working parents toolkit,  

to maximise the level of workplace flexibility for employees.
n Hosting a candidate open day aimed at marketing our business to potential employees and 

recruiting skilled, committed staff to the Personal Financial Solutions Division.

Our Peopleconnected™ Art 
Exhibition
State Trustees’ key community event is the annual 
connected™ art exhibition. This event connects artists 
living with a disability or experience of mental illness, 
with their community. This financial year saw the 
holding of connected08™ at the Black Box Theatre in 
the Victorian Arts Centre, as well as preparations  
for connected09™ at the same venue. 

Connected09™ will be our largest yet, featuring more than 
160 pieces of works, selected from a record 700 entries.  
For the second year connected™ will feature work from 
people living in supported residential services (SRS)  
facilities and a community forum to discuss ways to raise 
the awareness of, and improve the quality of life for, 
residents in SRSs.  

As always, connected™ celebrates artists from across  
rural Victoria and metropolitan Melbourne.

Sponsorships
In addition to our community partners, this year State 
Trustees sponsored events and activities held by many 
organisations, focusing on those in the community with 
whom we interact the most. The organisations included:

n ALSO Foundation
n Australian Lawyers Alliance
n Chapel off Chapel
n Council on the Ageing (COTA)
n Law Institute of Victoria (LIV)
n National Seniors Australia (NSA) 
n Royal Victorian Association of Honorary Justices
n Stonnington Council
n Case Managers’ Society of Australia

Recent economic conditions have provided the organisation 
with significant challenges, not the least of which relates to 
impacts upon our people. State Trustees is particularly 
proud of the fact that despite these challenging conditions, 
we have been able to manage our resources effectively so 
that downsizing or rationalisation has not been necessary. 
This is not to say that State Trustees is immune from current 
economic circumstances, but rather, our managed response, 
which included reductions and deferral of recruitment 
activity, has provided our staff with a level of stability and 
confidence that continues to be a key platform of our  
human resource strategy.  

The organisation has also continued to implement strategies 
and initiatives designed to retain staff while also improving 
and enhancing the experience of working at State Trustees.  

Competency Framework
This year a competency framework was implemented 
across the organisation. This framework is designed to 
ensure we are well equipped to meet one of our main 
strategic outcomes – to further achieve technical excellence 
in the work we do. The program identifies the level of skill 
and experience that is required within a particular role 
against which an employee can be assessed. This enables 
us to determine potential development opportunities for 
employees so they can competently meet the requirements 
of their job. At the end of the financial year, every role in the 
organisation had been profiled.  

The next phase of the framework will involve the 
development of comprehensive learning plans from the 
information gleaned through the competency evaluations. 
This process assists with many other important human 
resource-related streams including recruitment, succession 
planning, performance management and career planning, 
and as such, is a critical and foundational piece of work.

Health and Wellbeing
Occupational health and safety has been a major focus for 
State Trustees over the past few years, with a number of 
successful programs introduced. With these programs now 
well entrenched within the organisation, the past year has 
seen a shift of focus towards a more holistic approach; most 
commonly termed “health and wellbeing”. Placing health 
and wellbeing initiatives alongside health and safety ensure 
that staff not only enjoy a safe workplace, but are also able 
to access opportunities to enhance their general health and 
wellbeing. The programs that have been introduced include 
yoga, Pilates, Weight Watchers, personal training, as well as 
walking and running groups. We have also made seasonal 
influenza vaccinations available to staff. The take-up of 
these programs has been very encouraging and the 
feedback from staff has been overwhelmingly positive.  
Such programs clearly provide a significant employee 
benefit and have contributed to a healthier, happier, more 
engaged and more productive workforce. As a result, the 
health and wellbeing program will continue to evolve 
according to the particular needs of our workforce.

Our People



Psychological Health Program
The psychological health program was introduced this year 
as an adjunct to the broader health and wellbeing program. 
The psychological health program was designed to support 
employees who may be experiencing stressful or difficult 
challenges, both within their working lives as well as their 
lives away from the workplace. The initial stage of the 
program has involved the implementation of Workplace 
Contact Officers across all areas of the organisation.  
The Workplace Contact Officers are carefully selected 
members of staff who have been specifically trained by  
the Equal Opportunity Commission of Victoria to provide 
information, support and as required, referrals in relation 
to informal and/or formal dispute mechanisms for 
employees regarding issues of harassment and bullying  
in the workplace.  

A more recent component to the implementation of the 
psychological health program has been the establishment 
of Peer Support Officers within the business. These 
individuals have been trained to provide general advice 
and support and affect early recognition of particular 
issues with a view to referring the employee to an 
appropriate source of assistance. Both programs have 
been well received by the business and the workplace 
contact officers and peer support officers meet regularly to 
exchange experiences and provide support for each other. 

Environment Management Program
The People and Culture team has begun implementing an 
environment management program designed to address 
environmental issues and reduce the carbon footprint of 
the organisation. Major initiatives implemented so far 
include: a greening of the motor fleet through the use  
of hybrid vehicles; a targeted effort to dramatically reduce 
paper wastage; reducing lighting, and removing globes;  
as well as installing waterless urinals. Under infrastructure, 
we have invested heavily in a new PC fleet that will reduce 
energy consumption by up to 75 per cent. Further 
initiatives are planned for next year.

Disability Action Plan
As part of a broad government initiative to reduce barriers 
for people living with a disability, as well as promoting 
inclusion both in the organisation and the community for 
those individuals, State Trustees has implemented its first 
disability action plan. The disability action plan includes a 
variety of initiatives designed to increase the ease with 
which people living with a disability can access our 
products and services, or gain and maintain employment 
with State Trustees. Also included in the plan are activities 
to promote the inclusion of people living with a disability 
within the community while also changing attitudes within 
the workplace that may discriminate against such 
individuals. The disability action plan will be implemented 
fully across the organisation over the next three years. It will 
also be monitored and reported upon on an annual basis.

Flexible Working Solutions Policy  
and Program
State Trustees has introduced ‘Embracing Flexibility@
Work’ – a flexible working solutions program that is aimed 
at ensuring flexible work arrangements are considered for 
staff seeking work-life balance. Embracing Flexibility@
Work is aimed at finding and keeping talented employees 
over an extended period of time. The program intends to 
facilitate discussions between employees and managers to 
achieve mutually beneficial outcomes around such issues 
of returning to work from maternity leave, phasing down 
for retirement or taking on caring responsibilities for elderly 
parents. These often include changed employment 
conditions such as reduced or varied hours, and special 
arrangements to leave early or start work at a later time. 
The program provides a comprehensive toolkit for 
managers and employees that helps reduce some of the 
mystery around negotiations of flexible working conditions. 
This program reinforces the message that State Trustees 
will accommodate flexible working options to ensure that 
our organisation continues to attract and retain top talent.

Working Parents’ Toolkit
In addition to launching a flexible working solutions 
program, State Trustees has introduced the working 
parents’ toolkit. This provides working parents with 
information and resources to help balance the requirements 
of caring for a family while maintaining their job. This 
document is readily accessible on our intranet, as well  
as through the new ’Keep In Touch’ program (a website 
designed for employees on parental leave, to ensure they 
are kept up to date with State Trustees information  
and news).

Personal Financial Services Open Day
During the year, the Personal Financial Services Division 
held a candidate open day in an effort to engage with the 
candidate market in a proactive and innovative way, while 
recruiting skilled and committed staff along the way. This 
was a unique response to the candidate-short market that 
most businesses were experiencing earlier in the year and 
by-passed the conventional methods of recruiting staff, 
such as newspaper and online advertisements. The open 
day was overwhelmingly successful with more than 130 
potential employees visiting our Bourke St offices and 
taking the opportunity to speak directly with current 
employees about the jobs they perform. This resulted  
in several high quality candidates securing permanent 
employment with us.

Staff Statistics
Of the 576 people employed at State Trustees, 64 per cent 
are women and 15 per cent are part-time staff. At year-end, 
we had 33 new mothers on maternity leave, with most 
indicating their intention to return to work on a full or part 
time basis in the 2009/10 year. The full-time equivalent 
staff figures were 511 compared to 485 for the previous 
year. During the past 12 months we welcomed 119 new 
employees to our organisation. 

Our approach to diversity
By the very nature of the work that they do, our people are 
acutely aware of the impact of disadvantage in the lives of 
our clients. Consequently, our workplace culture, as well as 
the policies and processes that underpin it, actively promote 
equality and fairness across the organisation.

The workforce comprises an extraordinary mix of cultures 
and ethnicities, as well as staff living with a range of 
disabilities. Our recruitment processes openly encourage 
people with diverse backgrounds and various levels of 
ability to seek employment with State Trustees. As a result 
of this, appropriate accommodations are made to the 
workplace as well as the job requirements, to ensure that 
we do not exclude any employee from realising their full 
potential in their role. 

Women are strongly represented in all areas of State 
Trustees with 52 per cent of our key leadership roles  
held by females.  
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Project Exspres
Project Exspres has operated in three phases and initially 
focused on improving the client experience and related 
processes in our Executor Services’ department’s 
administration services. The work in the past 12 months 
has focused on staff workloads through a workforce 
planning business model. This model aims to better 
manage and monitor workloads to improve the allocation 
of estates across consultant caseloads, determine overall 
resourcing needs and ultimately provide better staff and 
client outcomes.

The results of this work are already evident in the significantly 
improved results in our annual Client Value Index.

Project Stomp
While Project Exspres focussed on improving the client 
experience and related processes in Executor Services, 
Project Stomp can be described as the equivalent project 
for Trustee Services. The project involves examining the 
types of trusts we are administering, and determining the 
best service offering we should be delivering.  

State Trustees manages more than 3,500 Trusts, ranging 
from large and complex to small and relatively simple. 
Project Stomp will assist in delivering greater efficiencies 
and improvements in service for our clients.

Compliance Registers
State Trustees’ compliance registers are considered best 
practice. Given the extent of our obligations, we have 
spent several years developing and implementing 
compliance registers. 

This year, the Corporate Operations division achieved a 
long-held goal of creating compliance registers for all our 
key activities. This has involved identifying all requirements 
that apply to us and developing plans and key controls to 
ensure compliance with our key legislative obligations.

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter 
Terrorism Financing Act 2006
Australia is a signatory to the various international 
conventions and United Nations resolutions directed  
at combating money laundering and terrorism financing 
activities. The Anti-Money Laundering and Counter 
Terrorism Financing Act 2006 is a significant initiative  
by the Federal Government in fulfilling these  
international obligations.

State Trustees established a project team to implement the 
governance framework, policy, processes and procedures 
to comply with the applicable requirements of the Act.  
This year we successfully ensured compliance with 
anti-money laundering phase two. This has been a 
massive compliance undertaking for the industry generally, 
but ensures we now have good compliance systems for all 
of our anti-money laundering requirements.  

Audit of Complaints Resolution 
Process
This financial year State Trustees engaged Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu auditors for an Independent Limited Assurance 
investigation and report on our complaints handling 
process. The audit found we perform our complaint 
resolution process at best practice, reflecting commitment 
to our vision ‘to be known for outstanding service to our 
customers’. 

Top left: Submission organiser, Polly Herewini accepts  
the Melbourne Award Below: The State Trustees’ PFS Intensive 
Needs Team

Achieving operational excellence is an ongoing process involving all  
areas of our business. This year saw the completion of some initiatives,  
the continuation of others, and the commencement of some new, exciting 
projects aimed at ensuring we reach best practice across the business. 

Highlights in this area throughout 2008/09 include:
n Meeting customer contact centre call response targets despite a 17 per cent increase in volumes.
n Improving processes to double the number of client reviews undertaken each year, without 

increasing the number of personnel required.
n The Intensive Needs Team being named a winner in the 2009 Melbourne Awards.
n Implementing process changes within Executor Services to help deliver maximum service in  

a timely, efficient manner.
n Creating compliance registers for all our key activities.
n Successfully ensuring compliance with Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorism 

Financing legislation phase two requirements.
n Achieving best practice status in an independent audit of our complaints resolution process. 
n Marking 70 years of serving Victorians. 

Customer Contact Centre
This year has seen significant focus on meeting our 
specified customer contact centre call response targets. 
Despite the number of calls increasing by 17 per cent, we 
met our targets without increasing resources. This was 
achieved by a change in rostering and a move towards a 
more blended workforce of full and part time personnel. 
This enabled us to carefully manage people’s shifts to 
address expected peaks in core volumes. 

Client Quality Review Process
By changing the administrative and computing systems 
around reviewing clients’ files, we have been able to double 
the number of client reviews undertaken each year, without 
increasing the number of personnel required to perform  
the task. By reviewing each client file independently every 
second year as required, we add more value to the client 
experience. An example is the increase in the number of 
clients we have helped to receive entitlements from  
other countries.

Intensive Needs Team
The Intensive Needs Team is based at State Trustees’ 
Bourke Street premises. It deals with clients who have 
behavioural issues or specific circumstances that may 

require more advanced interventions and assistance than 
the majority of our clients. In the past, while the high security 
environment provided protection, it was not necessarily 
conducive to the needs of these clients. The past couple of 
years has seen the environment re-designed, and staff more 
specifically selected and trained to meet the demands 
required of the intensive needs team. As a result, extreme 
incidents in the past 12 months have declined markedly. 

The achievements of this team were recognised by winning 
the annual Melbourne Awards for 2009, in the category of 
Contribution to the Community by a corporation. The team 
was announced winner ahead of several other worthy, 
high-profile finalists. In this category, entrants had to show 
how they are enhancing the lives of residents and workers 
through new approaches that increase community health 
and wellbeing or promote tolerance and understanding.  
The Award was announced at a gala dinner at the 
Melbourne Town Hall by Lord Mayor Robert Doyle. It 
recognised the efforts of the team in providing support to 
some of Melbourne’s most vulnerable, isolated residents 
who are unable to access services from other personnel or 
agencies, whether it be because they are not eligible or 
because they have been refused service. We are immensely 
proud of the team’s recognition through this award.

Operational 
Excellence

Operational 
Excellence

Photo courtesy of City of Melbourne, 2009 Melbourne Awards
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The infrastructure initiatives and programs undertaken this year will have  
a dramatic impact on the way State Trustees delivers services in the  
decades ahead.  

Highlights in this area include:
n Development of a business case for STL2020, which involves a phased relocation of State 

Trustees to create a decentralised network.
n Introduction of Chameleon, our new Will document producing software which significantly 

reduced the time spent preparing a Will. 
n Replacement of the entire PC fleet across the organisation, providing wide screen monitors, 

significantly reducing power usage and upgrading our standard desktop operating environment 
to MS Office 2007.

n Upgrading State Trustees’ Asset and Trust Information System (STRATIS) to the latest version 
of ‘Oracle’ Financials.

n Preparation of an infrastructure road map that enables us to understand our future 
technological expenditure needs.

n Improving technology performance levels for our Glen Waverley and Mornington offices.
n Development of an external service providers’ framework to ensure a consistent approach  

to managing the performance reporting for all of our service providers.  

Infrastructure

STL2020
STL2020 is the largest and most ambitious infrastructure 
project in State Trustees’ history. The project supports our 
vision “to be known for outstanding service to our 
customers” by delivering a decentralised business model 
that recognises that we need to be closer and more 
responsive to our clients. STL2020 recommends a phased 
relocation of State Trustees to create a decentralised 
network, initially focussed on the Government’s specified 
central activity districts (CADs), in a commitment to move 
our services closer to our clients and our people closer to 
where they live.  

The business case started from a simple premise: what type 
of model would we introduce if we were starting the 
business from scratch? Our research and investigations 
revealed that the service model that has been in place for 
many years, and has served State Trustees well, is not 
necessarily the best model for a contemporary customer 
focused business. 

In fact, our operating model remains largely unchanged 
since the office of the Public Trustee was first established, 
70 years ago. Then, the service proposition was to provide 
trustee services ‘of last resort’. That function was 
adequately provided through a centralised model close to 
the courts. While we continue to provide this service today, 
our business has diversified tremendously, yet the 
distribution model remains largely the same. 

With a principal client demographic in the 70 plus age 
group, it is clear that a significant number of our clients find  
it inconvenient to travel to the CBD to do business with us. 
By establishing a presence in the suburbs, and eventually in 
country Victoria, there will be a continuing, natural flow of 
business by the fact that we are close to our clients. 

Among the research we have carried out over the past  
12 months, we have found that an increasing number of 
Victorians want to do business with us, especially as the 
global financial crisis has taken root. These economic 
conditions have reminded Victorians that institutions such 
as State Trustees are critical to the stable functioning of 
their financial futures. However, to fully support their desire 
to do business with us, we need to become a more visible, 
relevant presence. 

At the end of the financial year we were ready to announce 
Dandenong as the first site of our decentralised office 
network, after analysis showed a high volume of clients, 
potential clients and staff live in the local area. 

Chameleon
This year has seen the introduction of Chameleon, our new 
document producing software used to write Wills for, and 
with, clients. Chameleon has dramatically reduced the time 
spent preparing a Will from days, to, in many instances,  
a matter of only one hour. It is anticipated that 90 per cent 
of all Wills will be made on the spot, with the client signing 
the document, paying and taking a copy with them at the  
initial interview. 

So many ways to help
Norman and Caroline liked living in the country where they owned their house and had $93,000 in savings to see them 
through their retirement. They had a close circle of friends and all the services they needed. Their children had been 
estranged for 15 years. Recently their son had contacted them asking for money, as well as asking them to be guarantor 
for his failing business. They refused and a friend became concerned for their welfare when advised that the son wanted 
control of their assets and bank accounts.

State Trustees was contacted to draw up new Wills and dormant Enduring Power of Attorney (Financial) documents to 
safeguard their assets. Shaun, a representative from State Trustees travelled to their home and took Norman and 
Caroline’s instructions for their Wills. Before executing their Will, medical certificates were requested from their local  
doctor to confirm their capacity to make a Will.  

While waiting for the medical certificates and before his Will was executed, Norman passed away suddenly. Caroline’s 
already poor health declined further and she was admitted to hospital. Shaun from State Trustees was contacted by 
Caroline’s case manager to arrange a visit to see how he could help her. While State Trustees was unable to act as 
Caroline’s Attorney, it was able to bring together the professional health services Caroline needed to move into  
full-time care. Caroline was assessed as no longer being able to live unassisted, she had lost her capacity to make 
financial decisions and was very unwell after she lost her husband.

With the return of Caroline’s long-departed children to take over her affairs, concerned friends and locals assisted  
with Caroline’s personal effects and helped complete an application for a VCAT Administration Order. 

The caring parties worked together, and State Trustees was appointed as Financial Administrator under the  
Administration Order for Caroline, ensuring her financial assets and estate was protected and secure.

70 Years of State 
Trustees
This year we marked 70 years of helping Victorians 
protect and manage the important things in their 
lives, regardless of circumstance and life stage.  
We commemorated our 70 years with the production  
of a short film that looked at our history. The film 
was shown at Federation Square during our 
connectedTM art exhibition and Seniors Festival,  
and is available on our website at  
www.statetrusees.com.au

We look forward to providing this ongoing  
support to Victorians for many years to come.

Infrastructure
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Not only is Chameleon considerably faster than our previous 
methods and software, it also includes features that 
recognise different client needs, such as asking the client 
whether they have specific personal requests or last wishes, 
or whether they would like a pet included in the Will. 

Chameleon has been customised to comply with Victorian 
legislation and to meet the needs of State Trustees. While 
it has been introduced to make Will documents more 
efficiently, Chameleon can also make a full suite of 
Enduring Powers of Attorney (EPA) including: EPA 
Financial; EPA Medical; Enduring Power of Guardianship; 
and revocation of an Enduring Power of Guardianship. 

PC Fleet Refresh 
The PC Fleet Refresh involved the replacement of the entire 
PC fleet across the organisation, the provision of new wide 
screen monitors, as well as an upgrade to Microsoft Office 
2007. Staff can now work on split screens to better manage 
documents and access more information at once, a feature 
that is particularly important when dealing with clients over 
the phone. We have also set up a number of staff with dual 
screen systems to more efficiently handle more complex 
tasks. The project was completed in just seven months and 
included theatrette style training, online tutorials and floor 
walkers to provide initial support and advice.      

The project has:

n Increased computer screen size by 111 per cent  
n Reduced power consumption by 74 per cent
n Improved desktop performance by 600 per cent
n Provided work stations ready for imaging  

and workflow technology
n Improved staff productivity through larger  

screens and faster PCs.

‘Oracle’ Upgrade
As further evidence of our commitment to manage our 
core infrastructure to maintain compliant platforms and 
systems, we upgraded the State Trustees Asset and Trust 
Information System (STRATIS) to the latest version of 
‘Oracle’ Financials during the year. This action allows us  
to continue to be supported by the vendor and be ready  
for the next version of Oracle when released in 2009/10.

Infrastructure Road Map
This year also saw the preparation of an infrastructure 
road map that enables us to understand our technologies’ 
service life, key components, key systems and the required 
minimum investment that we should be making to ensure 
continued reliability and efficiency.

Property Services
The property services team performs a range of tasks 
including: managing real estate agents, rental agents, 
insurance companies, sworn valuers, cleaners, removalists 
and other service providers; visiting clients when they are 
about to move into a retirement home from their own 
home; and even making sure pets are looked after when  
a client goes into temporary hospital or respite care. This 
year has seen a focus on developing an external service 
providers’ framework to ensure a consistent approach to 
managing the performance reporting for all of our  
service providers. 

Glen Waverley, Mornington   
and Dandenong Offices
To make it easier to access our services State Trustees has  
two key suburban branch offices, which provide distributed 
services through Glen Waverley and Mornington shop fronts.    
In the new financial year we will open our Southern Service 
Centre in Dandenong to bring a greater level of service and 
connection with communities across Melbourne.
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Directors’ Report
State Trustees Limited’s Board of Directors has the pleasure in presenting  
the company and economic entity’s financial statements as at 30 June 2009.

1. Board of Directors
Directors of State Trustees Limited and STL Financial Services Limited in office  
during the financial year, and until the date of this report, are:
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7. Matters subsequent to the  
end of the financial year

There are no circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2009 
not otherwise dealt with in this report that have significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the company, 
the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
company in subsequent financial years.

8. Likely developments and future results
The Directors advise that there are no likely developments in the 
company’s operations or expected results in future financial years 
to report other than what is reported in this report. The company 
has entered into negotiations to secure additional office space in 
order to accommodate its employees and extend its service 
delivery capabilities.

9. Insurance
During the financial year, State Trustees Limited paid a premium 
under a contract insuring specified officers against liability 
incurred in their capacity of working on the company’s behalf. 
Those officers consist of the Directors of the Company named 
earlier in this report, the Company Secretaries, and other Officers 
of the Company including certain Officers whose functions 
include managing strategic development, providing financial 
advice and human resources to the company and its related 
bodies corporate.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of 
premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of the contract 
of insurance. The Company has not provided any insurance for 
an auditor of the Company or related body corporate.

10. Reserve fund
State Trustees has complied with the provisions of the Trustee 
Companies Act 1984 that requires a reserve fund to be created 
and set aside by authorised trustee companies. This is reflected  
in the financial statements at Note 10.

11. Auditors’ independence declaration
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration, as required 
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, is set out on 
this page.

12. Rounding amounts
The amounts contained within this report and the financial report 
have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is 
applicable) under the option available to the company under 
ASIC CO 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the Class 
Order applies.

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors.

Julie Elliott Chairman of Directors

Anthony G Fitzgerald Managing Director

Melbourne, 25 August 2009
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3. Principal activities
State Trustees’ principal activities during the year were as trustee, 
executor, administrator, attorney and provider of other fiduciary 
and agency services.

4. Dividend
The shareholder approved the 2008 total dividend of $2.802 
million referred to in the Directors’ Report (dated 25 August 
2008). In keeping with their declared policy of distributing 90 
per cent of operating profit after tax to the shareholder, the 
Directors recommend a total dividend of $600,000 for the 
2009 financial year.

 2009 2008
 $000 $000

Interim dividend 36 1,609

Final dividend * 564 1,193

Total dividends for the year 600 2,802

* The final 2009 dividend is not payable until approved by the shareholder. 
Accordingly, we have not made a provision for the dividend in the current 
accounts.

5. Review of operations
The current reporting period saw the impact of the United States- 
based Sub Prime loans issue on international financial markets, 
broaden into a Global Financial Crisis (GFC). The GFC brought 
about the demise of some long-standing financial institutions 
(including US stalwarts Bear Sterns and Lehman Brothers) and  
the rationing and higher cost of credit. This has caused a 
deterioration in market sentiment and had the broader impact  
of lower market confidence. Around the world the impact has 
been severe and many developed economies are now officially  
in recession, while Australia narrowly avoided the technical 
definition, we endured significant financial strain.

As the Australian economy slowed throughout this financial  
year, it has had a significant effect on our financial results. 

Our commission structure (capital, income and management) 
has seen lower revenue results based on lower property and equity 
prices, as well as lower value of funds under management and 
lower yield on investments (interest rates and dividend payments). 
During this, we have continued to manage our expenditure levels 
without significantly reducing staff or service levels, so we are well 
placed when the economy recovers.

While this is the first year in the past six that we have not met our 
financial budget, we did identify the potential issues and factored 
the likely impact of the GFC into our forecasts early in the reporting 
period. We then put processes in place to defer expenditure 
programs (and therefore, financial impact) until there was 
enough confidence that the results would be possible.

At the year end, we achieved an operating result after tax  
of $667,000 (2008: $3.113 million). Our revenue increased  
by 4.65per cent (2008: 12.0per cent) to $55.450 million. We 
continue to see a growth in client numbers and as previously 
mentioned the GFC had an impact on the revenue per client.  
The returns on our corporate investment portfolio for the year 
were –$315,000 (2008: –$82,000).

While our expenditure has been well controlled, we have continued 
to invest in our future growth by maintaining appropriate marketing 
activity and investing in efficiency/service improvement initiatives. 
We also invested in our technology infrastructure by updating our 
obsolete computer fleet to deliver technological, productivity and 
environmental benefits (this previously occurred in 2003/04).

Our focus for the coming year is to consolidate our strategic 
plans, in particular the previously announced STL2020 and a 
decentralised service model to ensure we are a relevant and 
sustainable business.

6. Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the company’s state of 
affairs other than those referred to in the financial statements  
or attached notes.

2. Directors’ meetings
Director Board Audit Compliance Investment Remuneration 
 Meeting Committee(b) Committee(c) Committee(d) Committee(a)

 A H A H A H A H A H

Julie Elliott(a) 12 12 5 5 2 2 3 4 1 1

Anthony Fitzgerald 12 12 5(e) 5 4 4 4 4 2 2

Paula Allen(d) 7 7 (f) (f) 2 2 2 2 (f) (f)

Linda Berry 12 12 3 4 4 4 (f) (f) (f) (f)

Annette Broadfoot(g) 7 7 3 3 (f) (f) 2 2 (f) (f)

Patrick Burroughs(b) 12 12 5 5 (f) (f) (f) (f) 2 2

Dr Irene Irvine(c) 11 11 (f) (f) 4 4 (f) (f) 2 2

John Price 12 12 5 5 (f) (f) 4 4 2 2

John Marcard(h) 5 5 1 1 2 2 2 2 1 1

Daryl Hawkey(i) 5 5 (f) (f) 2 2 2 2 1 1

A Number of meetings attended.
H Number of meetings held during  

the time the Director held office 
exclusive of leave of absence.

(a) Julie Elliott was appointed as Chairman on 1 December 2008 and as Chair 
of the Remuneration Committee and was appointed member of the 
Compliance Committee on 20 February 2009.

(b) Patrick Burroughs is Chair of the Audit Committee.
(c) Irene Irvine is Chair of the Compliance Committee.
(d)  Paula Allen was appointed as Director effective 1 December 2008 and is 

Chair of the Investment Committee and was appointed a member of the 
Compliance Committee on 20 February 2009.

(e) Anthony Fitzgerald attends the Audit Committee meetings by invitation.
(f) Director is not a member of this Committee.
(g) Annette Broadfoot was appointed as Director effective 1 December 2008.
(h) John Marcard resigned as Chairman and from the Board effective  

30 November 2008.
(i) Daryl Hawkey resigned as Director effective 30 November 2008.

vic gov risk man 
framewk attest’n

Auditor-General’s 
Independence declaration
To the Directors of State Trustees Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the 
Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an independent officer 
of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way 
in which his powers and responsibilities are to be exercised.

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each 
public authority and for the purposes of conducting an audit has 
access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament 
any matters which the Auditor-General considers appropriate.

Independence Declaration

As auditor for State Trustees Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2009, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been:

a   no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the   
 Corporation Act 2001 in relation to the audit

b   no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct  
 in relation to the audit.

D.D.R. Pearson Auditor-General

Melbourne, 25 August 2009

Victorian Government 
Risk Management 
Framework Attestation
In the context of the Victorian Government Risk Management 
Framework and State Trustees’ observance of the framework, I,  
Julie Ann Elliott certify that State Trustees Limited has risk 
management processes in place consistent with the Australian/New 
Zealand Risk Management Standard (or equivalent designated 
standard) and an internal control system is in place that is intended  
to enable the executive to understand, manage and satisfactorily 
control material risk exposures. The Board verifies this assurance  
and that the risk profile of State Trustees Limited has been critically 
reviewed within the last 12 months.

Julie A Elliott Chairman of Directors
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Corporate Structure 1. Accountability

1.1 Corporate structure
State Trustees, under its enabling legislation of the State Trustees 
(State Owned Company) Act 1994 (Vic), reports to the 
Government of Victoria, and comes under the Department of 
Treasury and Finance. The State of Victoria is our sole 
shareholder. We have a Board of Directors, whose members are 
appointed by the Victorian Treasurer on behalf of the State of 
Victoria.

1.2 Communication with shareholder
Through the Board of Directors, State Trustees reports to the 
Treasurer as the State of Victoria’s representative. This 
communication includes:

n quarterly reporting on financial performance, any significant 
variations from the Corporate Plan, business risks, and general 
business issues,

n responding to questions arising from the quarterly reporting 
either as ad hoc reports or in direct meetings with the Treasurer 
or his representatives,

n financial statements, Directors’ reports, and the auditor’s 
reports as required by the Corporations Act 2001 (C’wealth),

n any reports requested by the Auditor General or Ombudsman, 
and

n responses to questions from Members of Parliament.

1.3 Executive reporting lines
Managing Director, Anthony Fitzgerald, leads State Trustees. He 
has eight general managers as direct reports. This group, known 
as the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) meets formally each 
fortnight, but meets informally more often as required.

1.4 Performance to plan
Strategic performance

State Trustees based its financial year operations on its ‘Strategic 
Plan 2006-2011’.

We centre our key corporate performance indicators on two 
components: customer value and shareholder value. We achieved 
our agreed performance measures and targets for the 2008/09 
financial year.

Two indices drive our service offerings: the Client Value Index 
(CVI) and the Business Value Index. 

We developed the CVI during the 2006/07 year and in 2008/09 
collected data from 1,052 non-statutory clients. We selected 
these survey respondents to reflect the proportion of clients who 
have acquired various products and services from us over the past 
few years. This year, State Trustees exceeded its target CVI score 
set in 2008. We are also pleased to report that over three quarters 
of the non-statutory clients surveyed would not hesitate in 
recommending State Trustees to others. 

We will use our respondents’ feedback about their experience with 
the organisation to keep improving our service delivery.

Financial performance

State Trustees’ budgeted profit before tax for the financial year 
was $2.6 million. The financial year’s actual performance was 
$475,000. Due to the implications of the Global Financial Crisis 
(GFC), early in the financial year our financial targets were revised 
to a profit before tax of $500,000.

We budgeted for a $58.1 million financial year turnover, achieving 
an actual financial year turnover of $55.4 million. This was 
adversely affected by the GFC.

At the close of the financial year, our total assets under 
management and trusteeship were approximately $1.6 billion.

1.5 Conflict of interest
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis,  
of any interests that might potentially conflict with those of the 
Company. Directors are guided in this area by Board-developed 
procedures on disclosing potential conflicts of interest.

Where the Board believes a significant conflict exists for a Director 
on a Board matter, the Director concerned does not receive the 
relevant Board papers and is not present at the meeting while the 
item is considered.

2. Transparency and openness

2.1 Legislation establishing the entity
State Trustees Limited was established in July 1994 as a result of 
the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act. The State Trust 
Corporation of Victoria was its predecessor. The stage was set for 
State Trustees to become Victoria’s first State-owned company 
with the 1992 State Owned Enterprises Act.

State Trustees was the first company that was wholly-owned by 
the State of Victoria, and is a company under the Corporations 
Act and a trustee company under the Trustee Companies Act 
1984 (Vic).

2.2 Goals and strategies
State Trustees is committed to helping people make the most of 
their financial opportunities. In particular, we look after the 
finances and estates of represented persons. The Victorian Civil 
and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) places these persons under 
State Trustees’ care via an administration order.

Under the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act, the 
Minister is responsible for ensuring that services relating to 
managing and administering estates and property are provided  
to clients who do not have the resources to obtain those services. 
The Minister does this by entering into a contract with State 
Trustees, the Community Service Obligation (CSO) agreement,  
to provide these services.

The CSO only applies to those who do not have the financial 
capacity to pay for such services. The Government pays State 
Trustees to provide these unprofitable services conditional on 
achieving certain performance standards as stipulated in the  
CSO agreement.

In addition, we provide numerous services on a commercial basis 
to clients who appoint us to manage their financial and legal 
affairs. These services include Estate Planning, Executor Services, 
Enduring Powers of Attorney, Will writing, Financial Planning, Tax 
and Legal Services, and Genealogy.

Since emerging as a State-owned company in 1994, we’ve 
continually improved our customer services and accountabilities 
while striving for commercial success in the trustee-services 
industry.

In 2005 we developed our Strategic Plan 2006-2011. 

We encouraged stakeholders to participate in this review and 
provide feedback on their expectations for how well we conduct 
our business, operations, and services. We carefully reviewed the 
data from these stakeholder consultations and integrated it into 
our Strategic Plan.

Our Strategic Plan identified five key result areas for future 
development:

n Products and services,
n Our people,
n Stakeholder relationships,
n Operational excellence, and
n Infrastructure.

The 2008/09 financial year was the third in the five-year strategic 
plan and we are meeting or ahead on most key measures.

Other major issues being addressed by the business include our 
accommodation and technology strategies. Both form part of the 
Operational Plan and will have a significant impact on future 
years’ income and cash flow.

2.3 Governance structure
State Trustees’ governance structure is driven by two pieces of 
legislation: the State Trustees (State Owned Enterprise) Act and 
Corporations Act.

State Trustees is the State of Victoria’s first corporatised public 
sector entity. Its creation followed microeconomic reforms at the 
State and Federal level in the 1980s, which saw the push towards 
Government entities becoming commercialised, corporatised, or 
privatised.

Although we are a profit-oriented Government Business 
Enterprise (GBE), we are also driven by the accountabilities of 
private sector organisations. Accordingly, our governance is 
influenced by both private company and public entity principles.

For the sake of reporting our governance, we have opted for the 
public sector entity approach rather than, for instance, the 
Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Principles.

2.4 Competitive neutrality
State Trustees is a public financial enterprise within the meaning 
of the Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria 2000 prepared by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance. State Trustees operates 
under a corporatised model, and pays the full suite of 
Commonwealth and State taxes or tax equivalents.

2.5 Remuneration policies
Principles used to determine remuneration

State Trustees bases its executive remuneration packages on the 
principle of reward for performance. Our remuneration 
framework, from the Government Sector Executive Remuneration 
Panel (GSERP), aims to align executive reward with achieving 
strategic objectives and creating value for our shareholder.

Our executive officers’ pay and reward framework has two key 
components:

n Base remuneration is structured as a total employment cost 
package, and can be delivered as a mix of cash, 
superannuation, and prescribed non financial benefits at the 
executives’ discretion.

Executives are offered a base pay comprising the fixed component 
of pay and rewards, which is no more than 80 per cent of the 
Managing Director’s base salary (as determined by GSERP).

External remuneration consultants provide advice on whether our 
executives’ base pay reflects the financial services market for a 
comparable role. The Remuneration Committee reviews senior 
executives’ base pay annually to compare competitiveness with 
the financial services market. There are no guaranteed base pay 
increases fixed in any senior executives’ contracts.

n Short-term incentives are available to each executive 
depending on the role’s accountabilities and impact on 
organisational and business unit performance. Senior 
executives can receive a bonus of up to 20 per cent of total 
base remuneration, which the Remuneration Committee 
approves.

3. Integrity

3.1 Reporting quality
Relevant legislation and accounting standards guide State 
Trustees’ financial reporting.

While we have only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, we 
have numerous stakeholders who are interested in our ethics and 
performance.

Key to all our activities is the safety and security of our funds 
under trust for both represented persons and the broader public.

Corporate Governance Statement 
State Trustees is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance.

Our main governance practices are consistent with the Victorian Government’s ‘Good practice guide on 
governance for Victorian public sector entities’. For ease of reporting, we have addressed our governance 
practices through five key corporate public sector governance principles. Unless otherwise stated, these  
practices have been in place for the full financial year.

This corporate governance statement sets out information about our enabling legislation.

State of Victoria
(Shareholder)

Overseen by the Department  
of Treasury + Finance

State Trustees Limited

Board of Directors

Managing Director

Corporate Leadership 
Team

Senior Management 
Group
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trustee company who they consider could undertake the role.  
The Public Advocate may also apply to the Tribunal to appoint a 
guardian or administrator, or to review appointment 
arrangements.

In cases where the applicant doesn’t nominate an administrator, 
or VCAT considers the nominee unsuitable, for example, where 
there is significant family conflict, VCAT may appoint State 
Trustees or another suitable administrator.

Subject to the Guardianship and Administration Act 1986 (Vic) 
and the administration order, an administrator:

n is responsible for managing the represented person’s estate,
n takes possession and care of, recovers, collects, preserves, and 

administers the property and estate, and generally manages 
the represented person’s financial and legal affairs, and

n exercises all rights relating to the estate that the represented 
person might exercise if she/he had legal capacity.

In exercising such wide powers, the legislation requires 
administrators to act in the represented person’s best interests.  
As administrator, we take into account the represented person’s 
wishes and try to encourage and help them become capable of 
administering their own estate.

Functions of an administrator

Typically, an administrator performs the following functions on 
behalf of a represented person:

n prepares and periodically reviews their financial plan and 
budget,

n manages real estate and other assets,
n collects income including ensuring they receive all of their 

entitlements,
n manages liabilities and pays accounts as they fall due,
n attends to taxation matters,
n helps them accumulate savings to enable them achieve their 

aspirations,
n invests available funds, and
n manages legal and associated issues.
State Trustees currently administers close to 9,000 represented 
persons, managing their assets in excess of $735 million.

Represented persons

Ages and circumstances of represented persons vary significantly. 
About 38 per cent are older than 60, around 36 per cent are 
between 31 and 60 years, and the remaining 26 per cent are 
under 30 years of age. All have some form of disability such as 
intellectual impairment, a mental disorder, brain injury, or 
dementia that impact on their ability to make reasonable 
decisions.

As a State-owned company, State Trustees must perform its 
functions for public benefit by:

n operating its business as efficiently as possible consistent with 
prudent commercial practice, and

n maximising its contribution to the economy and the State’s  
well being.

In adopting commercial practice, a company would not normally 
accept administrator appointments in circumstances where it 
would incur a loss. Losses could occur by undertaking 
unprofitable activities designed to meet community and social 
objectives.

Community Service Obligation

CSO agreements have been in place between State Trustees and 
the Minister responsible for the Department of Human Services 
since July 1994, and covers services to a range of State Trustees 
clients.

We deliver these services under legislation that includes the State 
Trustees (State Owned Company) Act, Administration and 
Probate Act 1958 (Vic), Trustee Act 1958 (Vic), and Guardianship 
and Administration Act. In part, these ensure that members of  
the public have access to services relating to managing and 
administering their estates and property.

In 2008/09, State Trustees received income of $15.4 million 
under the CSO agreement.

Service improvements

Over the past decade or so, we have implemented numerous 
improvements to client services. These include:

n increasing client accessibility by establishing a dedicated 
customer service centre in Melbourne’s CBD,

n appointing a client relations team and establishing a 
coordinated client contact program throughout Victoria,

n establishing an office at VCAT to provide immediate access to 
services for our clients, VCAT applicants, and Tribunal 
members,

n creating a new property facilitator team charged with providing 
immediate response to urgent property issues such as securing 
homes, motor vehicles, and other valuables including pets,

n enhancing client communication by providing regular service 
information to clients and the broader community,

n appointing a client relations officer to deal formally with any 
complaints received,

n regularly meeting key stakeholders and advocacy groups to 
allow them to raise concerns and give input into service delivery 
initiatives. These meetings also provide an opportunity for us to 
explain our administration role, responsibilities, and 
obligations,

n developing new information systems to improve service delivery 
efficiency, particularly in managing clients’ financial affairs and 
file management,

n developing specialist teams to focus on particular client needs. 
For example we have a pensions team to verify entitlements, a 
quality review team to assess the quality of work provided for 
clients, and an intensive needs team especially for clients with 
particular needs, and

n establishing the Financial Independence Program and Intensive 
Support Program.

We take seriously our stewardship of our clients’ affairs, and of 
being responsible for making these economic welfare services 
available. We choose our consultants carefully to ensure they are 
empathetic to clients needs; we provide these services fairly, 
sensitively, and confidentially.

4.3 Compliance and risk management
Risk management

The Board oversees State Trustees’ risk management and 
compliance framework. We have a management framework for 
assessing, monitoring, and managing operational activities, 
financial reporting, and compliance risks.

Our risk management framework is structured and transparent. 
Built on the Risk Management Standard AS/NZS 4360, it allows 
us to identify, assess, and manage risk across the company 
systematically and consistently. The framework also defines 
reporting processes to manage exposures at an appropriate level 
across the organisation.

The Managing Director and key senior managers make up the 
Risk Committee of Management, which is responsible for 
supporting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities 
relating to identifying, assessing, and managing risk, and 
adhering to internal risk management policies and procedures.  
In this role, the committee has delegated authority from the 
Board to approve and oversee risk management processes.

Working with the executive and senior management, the 
compliance and risk management team helps management 
mitigate risks by identifying business risks and controls. The  
team also monitors and regularly reports to both the Board  
and management on the status of risk across the organisation.

All staff are trained to understand their compliance responsibilities 
and the processes and policies for reporting and rectifying 
breaches.

We inform stakeholders of our effectiveness in achieving these 
goals through our Annual Report, which we produce in hard copy, 
and make available online at www.statetrustees.com.au.

Our staff, who are influential stakeholders in providing services to 
our clients, are continually updated on our performance. Staff 
attend quarterly presentations given by the Managing Director 
and can follow these up on the company intranet. We update our 
clients with a number of specifically-targeted quarterly newsletters 
that outline our activities.

3.2 Audit Committee
State Trustees has a formal Audit Committee comprising five 
Directors. At its discretion, the Audit Committee invites our 
internal and external auditors, the Managing Director, General 
Manager Corporate Operations, and Financial Controller to 
committee meetings. Section 5.2 of this Corporate Governance 
Report gives further details of this Committee.

3.3 Code of conduct
State Trustees is committed to operating ethically. We have a 
Code of Conduct, our public statement of how we conduct our 
business and treat clients and staff, and use it to communicate 
how we expect staff to act with honesty and integrity at all times.

Our Code of Conduct contains specific clauses relating to 
confidentiality, email and information technology, conflict of 
interest, and personal behaviour. It expressly addresses dealing 
with breaches and non-compliance with the Code.

Confidentiality

We expect staff to maintain and respect the confidentiality and 
privacy of clients’ personal and financial information. Staff must 
not use or disclose any confidential information for any 
unauthorised purpose, including for personal use or to benefit a 
third party. An essential part of all staff employment 
arrangements is adherence to our Code of Conduct.

When dealing with represented persons’ affairs, we refer staff to 
the secrecy obligations set out in section 17 of the State Trustees 
(State Owned Company) Act, and remind them that we are 
subject to other privacy obligations that may include the Privacy 
Act 1988 (C’wealth), Information Privacy Act 2000 (Vic) and 
Health Records Act 2001 (Vic) depending on the circumstances.

Conflict of interest

Our Code of Conduct draws attention to conflict of interest. We 
advocate acting with honesty and integrity in all aspects of our 
business. In keeping with this value, we require staff to take care 
to avoid real or apparent conflicts of interest between their private 
affairs and our business. We define conflicts of interest as 
situations where a staff member has a personal interest that may 
influence (or even appear to influence) the way they perform their 
official duties.

We regularly revise our Code of Conduct. All new employees 
receive a copy during their induction training. It is also available 
on our intranet, and we require staff to confirm electronically that 
they have read and understood it. At that time, we also give staff 
the opportunity to ask questions in relation to any aspect of the 
Code they don’t understand.

3.4 Whistleblowers’ protection
State Trustees is committed to the aims and objectives of the 
Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (Vic). We don’t tolerate our 
staff at any level acting improperly at any time, nor do we take 
reprisals against those who come forward to disclose improper 
conduct.

We recognise the value of transparency and accountability in  
how we do business.

We support staff disclosing conduct that is corrupt, involves 
substantial mismanagement of public resources, or substantial 
risk to public health and safety or the environment.

We take all reasonable steps to protect staff who make such 
disclosures from any detrimental action relating to that disclosure. 
We also provide natural justice to the person who is the subject of 
the disclosure.

Compliance with the Whistleblowers Protection Act

State Trustees encourages staff to report known or suspected 
incidences of improper conduct or detrimental actions. We have 
procedures to protect from reprisals a person who makes a 
disclosure and to properly investigate and deal with any 
disclosures.

Our procedures include disclosure mechanisms, and confidentiality 
provisions that guide the roles and responsibilities of designated 
protected disclosure co-ordinators, protected disclosure officers, 
investigators, and welfare managers. We regularly remind staff of 
the Whistleblowers’ legislation and procedures.

There were no disclosures or investigations of improper conduct 
or detrimental actions by staff during the financial year.

State Trustees Whistleblowers’ contacts

State Trustees staff can disclose possible improper conduct or 
detrimental action to our protected disclosure co-ordinator, Client 
Relations Manager, Tim Wilkinson, who is available on (03) 9667 
6200. They can also contact our protected disclosure officers 
Andrew Schuette (General Manager, People and Culture: 03 9667 
6882) and John Dennison (Manager, Compliance and Risk 
Management: 03 9667 6459).

We will refer all correspondence, phone calls, and emails from 
internal or external whistleblowers to the protected disclosure 
co-ordinator. If a person contemplating making a disclosure feels 
uncomfortable doing so on State Trustees premises, they can 
request a meeting in a discreet location away from the workplace.

3.5 Environmental activities
State Trustees is not subject to any significant environmental 
regulations. However, we are committed to achieving a high 
standard of environmental performance. We have a number  
of initiatives that aim to reduce our environmental impact.  
These include:

n maintaining a paper recycling program,
n using low energy/high light output fittings,
n saving water by implementing dual-flush cisterns,
n undertaking a cartridge recycling program for all printer and 

photocopier toners,
n using photocopiers with energy-saving capacities, and
n disposing of light tubes via the EPA waste management system.

The Board is not aware of any breaches of its environmental 
practices during the period covered by this report.

4. Stewardship

4.1 State Trustees’ main functions
State Trustees’ main functions, established under the State 
Trustees (State Owned Company) Act are to provide:

n trustee services for government and individuals,
n personal administration services,
n specialised legal, financial and tax services including Will 

making, establishing Powers of Attorney, Financial Planning, 
managing compensation funds, Genealogy Services, and Trust 
Administration, and

n funds management services and investment products.

4.2 Stewardship activities
Providing personal administration services, specifically to 
represented persons, is a core element of our business. In these 
cases, VCAT’s Guardianship List has appointed State Trustees as 
administrator of the affairs of people who are deemed unable to 
make reasonable judgements in respect of their estate.

VCAT’s Guardianship List started in July 1998, replacing the 
former Guardianship and Administration Board. The Tribunal  
and the Office of the Public Advocate both play a crucial role in 
determining whether a person needs an administrator.

Any person may apply to VCAT seeking the appointment of an 
administrator. They may nominate a person such as a family 
member, friend, accountant, solicitor, State Trustees, or a private 
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The Board and all the committees (except STAF Advisory 
Committee) have at least one closed session each year without 
management being present.

All Board committees have authority, within the scope of their 
responsibilities, to seek any information they require from any 
employee or external party. They may also undertake any other 
activities consistent with their charters.

The number of times each committee met during the year, and 
committee members’ attendance record, are disclosed in the 
table of directors’ meetings in the Directors’ Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises five non-executive 
Directors. The Committee’s Chairman is Patrick Burroughs, and 
its members are Julie Elliott, Linda Berry, Annette Broadfoot and 
John Price. During the year, John Marcard resigned and Annette 
Broadfoot was appointed.

The Audit Committee, at its discretion, invites the internal and 
external auditors, Managing Director, General Manager 
Corporate Operations, and Financial Controller to attend its 
meetings.

The Committee advises on establishing and maintaining a 
framework of internal control for managing State Trustees.

The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the internal 
audit program conducted each financial year.

The internal auditors help the Board ensure compliance with 
internal controls and risk management programs by regularly 
reviewing how well the compliance and control systems function.

The Audit Committee also holds an annual meeting with the 
internal and external auditors without management being 
present.

The Auditor General is the organisation’s official external auditor, 
but he has subcontracted State Trustees’ external audit to Ernst  
& Young. The company outsources the internal audit function to 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

The Audit Committee:

n oversees financial reporting and statutory accounts, and 
corporate accounting policies,

n reviews, approves and monitors the system of internal controls,
n reviews the external audit plan, and
n sets an internal audit program.

Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee comprises four non-executive 
Directors and one executive Director. The Committee’s Chairman 
is Irene Irvine, and its members are Julie Elliott, Anthony 
Fitzgerald, Paula Allen and Linda Berry. During the year John 
Marcard and Daryl Hawkey resigned and Julie Elliott and Paula 
Allen were appointed.

Under its charter, the committee reviews State Trustees’ compliance 
with all relevant legislative, regulatory and contractual obligations, 
reviews and monitors how State Trustees’ overall compliance 
framework is maintained and implemented, and assesses and 
monitors business risks as they relate to compliance.

The Compliance Committee’s main responsibilities include:

n reviewing management compliance reports and monitoring 
management responses to compliance issues,

n meeting with the managed investments compliance plan 
auditors,

n monitoring the effectiveness and completeness of compliance 
reporting,

n monitoring and overseeing compliance with relevant legislative, 
regulatory, and contractual obligations (of a non-financial or 
non-accounting nature),

n reviewing and approving the process used to identify, monitor, 
and manage compliance-related risks,

n ensuring that where compliance breaches are identified, 
appropriate and timely reporting occurs and appropriate 
rectification strategies are implemented on a timely basis, and

n reviewing and approving the design of the annual compliance 
program.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises four non-executive 
Directors and one executive Director. Daryl Hawkey was its 
Chairman until 30 November 2008, upon which date his 
resignation was effective. Julie Elliott, Anthony Fitzgerald and 
John Price remained on the committee. During the year John 
Marcard resigned and Paula Allen and Annette Broadfoot were 
appointed. From 1 December 2008 Paula Allen assumed the  
role of Chairman. 

The Investment Committee’s main responsibilities include:

n overseeing the investment strategies and performance of 
corporate investments and client investments,

n monitoring and reviewing the company’s Investment Policy,
n monitoring and reviewing the company’s financial planning, 

including approving lists of investments, standard portfolio 
investment mix, investment guidelines, procedures for 
determining and reviewing investments and compliance with 
relevant regulatory legislation, and

n monitoring and reviewing the list of external service providers, 
including brokers, to ensure the company and its subsidiaries 
continue to act in the best interests of unit holders and/or 
beneficiaries.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four non-executive 
Directors and one executive Director. John Marcard was its 
Chairman until 30 November 2008, upon which date his 
resignation was effective. Anthony Fitzgerald, Patrick Burroughs, 
Irene Irvine remained on the Committee. During the year, Daryl 
Hawkey resigned and Julie Elliott and John Price were appointed. 
From 1 December 2008 Julie Elliott assumed the role of Chairman. 

The Remuneration Committee operates according to its charter.  
It advises the Board on general remuneration and incentive 
policies and practices, and makes specific recommendations on 
remuneration packages and other employment terms for the 
Managing Director and other senior executives.

Remuneration of executives, including the Managing Director, is 
determined with reference to the GSERP.

The Committee also oversees management succession planning 
and reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on 
superannuation arrangements.

State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF) Advisory 
Committee

The Committee’s Chairman is John Price, and its current 
members are Anthony Fitzgerald, John Annison, Rhonda Galbally 
and Robert Knowles AO, three non-director members with a 
strong background in community services and philanthropy.

The role of the STAF Advisory Committee, which meets once a 
year, is to recommend how the STAF income should be distributed 
to, or benefit eligible charitable recipients. Grants for this purpose 
are generated from income earned on donations where the 
donors have not made requests for grants to specific charities.

Compliance and control

State Trustees is committed to meeting strong compliance and 
ethical standards. Our Compliance Policy guides us in meeting 
our ongoing and continuously changing compliance requirements 
and obligations.

The policy, which overarches our annual Organisational 
Compliance Plan, reflects the company’s commitment to 
compliance. We developed this policy to meet the standards  
in Australian Standard AS3806 – Compliance Programs.

To help us more effectively manage our financial services 
compliance responsibilities, we have a management committee 
titled the Australian Financial Services (AFS) Licence Committee. 
This committee reviews and monitors ongoing compliance with 
AFS licence obligations. Its key responsibilities include:

n reviewing key risks to compliance with AFS licence obligations,
n resolving AFS licence issues and informing the Managing 

Director of risk discussions and outcomes, and
n assessing materiality of compliance breaches and 

recommending remedial action according to our Breaches 
Policy and Procedures.

Fraud control

State Trustees has a number of management systems, process 
controls, and procedures directed at preventing or minimising  
the risk of fraud.

The Risk Committee of Management oversees any alleged fraud 
investigation and reviews allegations, then reports its findings and 
recommendations to the Managing Director. All instances of 
fraud must be reported to State Trustees’ Board.

Business continuity planning

State Trustees has a Business Continuity Plan which is a 
framework designed to ensure that critical processes continue if a 
serious unplanned event occurs that may disrupt the business.

5. Leadership

5.1 Board of Directors
Board composition

The organisation’s sole shareholder is the State of Victoria.  
It is represented by the Treasurer who selects the State  
Trustees’ Board.

Details of the Board members, their experience, expertise, 
qualifications, terms of office, and independent status are set  
out in the Board of Directors section of the Directors’ Report.

There are seven non-executive directors and one executive 
director at the date of signing the Directors’ Report.

The Board seeks to ensure that:

•	 at	any	point	in	time,	its	membership	represents	an	appropriate	
balance between Directors with experience and knowledge of 
the company, and Directors with an external or fresh 
perspective, and

•	 the	Board’s	size	is	conducive	to	effective	discussion	and	
efficient decision-making.

The Board’s guiding principles

The Board operates according to the broad principles set out in  
its charter, which details the Board’s role, composition, and 
responsibilities. These are additional to the company’s 
Constitution. The Company Secretary reviews the Board of 
Directors’ Charter at least annually and the Board receives 
recommended changes for its approval. The Company Secretary 
and the management representative responsible for preparing  
the relevant committee’s papers review each committee’s charter 
at least annually. Any recommended changes to committee 
charters are submitted to the respective committees, and any 
changes that are approved are then submitted to the Board for  
its approval.

Chairman and Managing Director

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring 
Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their role 
and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions, and managing 
the Board’s relationship with the Company’s senior executives.

The Managing Director is responsible for implementing group 
strategies and policies.

The Board charter specifies that the roles of Chairman and 
Managing Director are not to be held by the same person.

The Board’s role

The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance to the company 
within a framework of prudent and effective controls that enables 
risk to be assessed and managed. The Board:

n sets the Company’s strategic aims,
n ensures that the necessary financial and human resources are 

in place for the Company to meet its objectives,
n reviews management performance,
n sets the Company’s values and standards, and
n ensures that the Company understands and meets its 

obligations to stakeholders.

The Board has delegated responsibility for operating and 
administering State Trustees to the Managing Director, the  
Corporate Leadership Team, and senior management. 
Responsibilities are delineated by formal authority delegations.

Independent professional advice and access  
to company information

Each Director has the right to access all relevant State Trustees’ 
executives and information and, subject to prior consultation with 
the Chairman, may seek independent professional advice from a 
suitably qualified adviser at the company’s expense.

Board processes

The full Board holds 11 scheduled meetings each year, plus 
strategy and extraordinary meetings as needed to address specific 
significant matters that may arise. During January, when a formal 
Board meeting is not scheduled, Directors receive update reports 
from the Managing Director and Financial Controller.

The Chairman, Managing Director, and Company Secretary 
prepare meeting agendas. Standing items include the Managing 
Director’s report, updates from Board committee meetings, 
financial reports, strategic matters, governance, risk management 
and compliance. All Directors receive Board papers at least four 
days before meetings. Executives are regularly involved in Board 
discussions and Directors have other opportunities for contact 
with a wider group of employees.

Conflicts of interest are noted and declared at each Board 
meeting. Directors make declarations of private interests to 
Government annually with changes noted and declared at  
each Board meeting.

5.2 Board committees
The Board has established a number of committees to help it 
perform its duties and allow detailed consideration of complex 
issues. Its current standing committees are the Audit, 
Compliance, Investment, and Remuneration Committees, as  
well as the State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF) Advisory 
Committee. Generally, committee structures and membership are 
reviewed annually. In the case of the STAF Advisory Committee, 
members who are not State Trustees’ representatives are 
appointed for three years.

Each committee has its own written charter setting out its roles 
and responsibilities, composition, structure, membership 
requirements, and the manner in which the committee operates. 
We review these charters annually. We also regularly review the 
chairs and members of each committee as part of normal Board 
governance. During the year we made changes to the Audit, 
Compliance, Investment and Remuneration Committees, details 
of which are below.



 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
 Notes $000s $000s $000s $000s

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 2,431 5,253 2,210 4,560
Receivables 6 9,706 8,926 9,600 9,006
Other financial assets 7 14,253 15,105 8,172 8,339
Other assets 8 848 654 848 654
Income tax equivalent  121 – 121 –

Total current assets  27,359 29,938 20,951 22,559

Non-current assets
Property, plant, and equipment 9 22,659 23,415 22,659 23,415
Other financial assets 11 – – 5,200 5,200
Deferred tax assets 4 2,934 2,340 2,681 2,226

Total non-current assets  25,593 25,755 30,540 30,841

Total assets  52,952 55,693 51,491 53,400

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables 12 4,857 4,852 5,270 4,803
Income tax equivalent  – 1,433 – 741
Provisions 13 5,135 4,534 5,135 4,534

Total current liabilities  9,992 10,819 10,405 10,078

Non-current liabilities     
Deferred tax liabilities 4 376 538 371 538
Provisions 14 1,396 1,038 1,396 1,038

Total non-current liabilities  1,772 1,576 1,767 1,576

Total liabilities  11,764 12,395 12,172 11,654

Net assets  41,188 43,298 39,319 41,746

EQUITY

Contributed equity 16 12,462 12,462 12,462 12,462
Reserves 17 18,148 18,926 18,148 18,926
Retained profits 18 10,578 11,910 8,709 10,358

Total equity  41,188 43,298 39,319 41,746

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet  
as at 30 June 2009

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
 Notes $000s $000s $000s $000s

Revenue from continuing operations    
Commissions and fees  39,851 37,851 38,485 35,732
Community Service Obligation revenue  15,447 14,681 15,447 14,681
Other operating revenue 3 152 455 264 412
Dividend from subsidiary company  – – 701 1,958

Total revenue  55,450 52,987 54,897 52,783

Expenses from continuing operations     
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 2,547 1,980 2,547 1,980
Lease rental charges – operating leases  753 347 753 347
Audit expenses 26 147 155 127 137
Employee benefits expense  41,115 36,483 41,115 36,483
Other expenses 3 10,413 9,872 10,478 9,409

Total expenses  54,975 48,837 55,020 48,356

Profit from continuing operations  
before income tax equivalent  475 4,150 (123) 4,427

Income tax equivalent expense 4 (192) 1,037 (473) 344

Net profit  667 3,113 350 4,083

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Income Statement  
for the Financial year ended 30 June 2009



 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
 Notes $000s $000s $000s $000s

Total equity at the start of the financial year  43,298 38,778 41,746 36,256

Gain / (Loss) on revaluation of land  
and buildings, net of tax 17 (1,548) 3,687 (1,548) 3,687
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale  
financial assets, net of tax  – – – –

Net income recognised directly in equity  (1,548) 3,687 (1,548) 3,687

Profit for the year  667 3,113 350 4,083

Total recognised income and expense for the year  (881) 6,800 (1,198) 7,770

Dividends provided for or paid 18 (1,229) (2,280) (1,229) (2,280)

Total equity at the end of the financial year  41,188 43,298 39,319 41,746

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
 Notes $000s $000s $000s $000s

Cash flows from operating activities     
Commissions and fees received  38,311 37,170 36,771 35,095
Community Service Obligation income received  15,966 13,255 15,966 13,255
Payments to suppliers  (13,341) (8,783) (12,682) (8,999)
Payments to employees  (39,810) (35,249) (39,810) (35,249)
Interest received  216 456 250 414
Payments of income tax equivalent  (512) (2,657) (97) (1,777)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21b 830 4,192 398 2,739

Cash flows from investing activities     
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  172 54 172 54
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment  (3,448) (2,454) (3,448) (2,454)
Proceeds from redemption of interests in  
managed investment schemes  15,534 3,794 7,544 2,032
Payments for interests in managed investment schemes  (14,681) (2,625) (7,377) (1,400)

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (2,423) (1,231) (3,109) (1,768)

Cash flows from financing activities     
Loans to related entity  – – 889 507
Dividends received  – – 701 1,958
Dividends paid 18 (1,229) (2,280) (1,229) (2,280)

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from financing activities  (1,229) (2,280) 361 185

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  (2,822) 681 (2,350) 1,156

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the start of the financial year  5,253 4,572 4,560 3,404

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the financial year 5 2,431 5,253 2,210 4,560

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the Financial year ended 30 June 2009

Cash Flow Statement  
for the financial year ended 30 June 2009

Note 1. Corporate information
The financial report of State Trustees Limited (the Company)  
for the year ended 30 June 2009 was authorised for issuance in 
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 August 2009.

State Trustees is a State-owned company. The State of Victoria is 
the sole shareholder.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group 
are described in the Directors’ report.

Note 2. Summary of significant  
accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which 
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. The financial report has also been prepared on 
a historical cost basis, except for land and buildings and financial 
assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which 
have been measured at fair value.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($000) dollars unless 
otherwise stated.

Compliance with IFRS
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the parent entity, State Trustees Limited, and its 
controlled entity, STL Financial Services Limited, referred to 
collectively throughout these financial statements as the ‘Group’ 
and ‘consolidated entity’.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all 
intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses 
and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have 
been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable to the extent it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Commissions and fees
Commissions and fees are charged and earned pursuant to the 
published schedule of fees. Revenue is recognised on an accruals 
basis when the service is provided.

Community Service Obligation (CSO) revenue
Revenue is received from the State of Victoria under the CSO 
agreement. This revenue is based on State Trustees providing 
financial services management to the community as defined by 
the agreement, and is recognised on an accruals basis when the 
service is provided.

Interest revenue
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest 
method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a 
financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate. This rate exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends and Trust distributions
Dividends and Trust distributions are recognised when the right  
to receive the payment is established.

Impairment of assets
State Trustees Limited conducts an annual internal review of asset 
values, which is used as a source of information to assess for any 
indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in 
expected future processes, technology and economic conditions, 
are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. If any 
indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s recov- 
erable amount is calculated. An impairment loss is recognised  
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value, less costs to sell and value in use. For the pur- 
poses of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet and cash flow 
statement comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Receivables
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less an allowance for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing  
basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts that are known  
to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment 
provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Financial difficul- 
ties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 60 days 
overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment.

Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Investments and other financial assets
Recognition and derecognition
Investments in financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. 
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the 
trade date i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase the 
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or been 
transferred.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
Gains or losses on financial assets are recognised in profit or loss 
and the related assets are classified as current assets in the balance 
sheet. The fair values of investments that are actively traded in org- 
anised financial markets are determined by reference to quoted 
market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet 
date. Investments in unlisted trusts are recorded at the redemption 
value per unit as reported by the manager of the investments.

Receivables
Receivables are recorded at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method less impairment. They are included in current 
assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months 
after balance date, which are classified as non-current.

Controlled unlisted companies
Investments in controlled unlisted companies are measured at 
cost and impairment is tested annually.
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Tax consolidation
State Trustees has formed an income tax consolidated group consisting of State Trustees Limited (STL) and STL Financial Services 
Limited (STFSL). STL is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. The entities within the tax consolidated group have entered 
into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, 
STLFSL has agreed to pay/receive a tax equivalent payment to or from STL based on the current tax asset or liability of the entity. 
Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to the other entity in the tax consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between the members of the tax consolidated group provides for the determination of the 
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should STL default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been 
recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is 
considered remote.

Executor Services revenue accrual
Revenue is accrued for Executor Services over the estimated service period. The time taken to administer an Estate can vary due  
to complications or other circumstances. The fees and charges can vary due to the nature of estimates used for Estate values and 
commission rates. Revenue is brought to account, on a straight-line basis, over a nine-month period, except where the Estate is  
completed earlier and the remaining revenue is brought to account.

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares of the company are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options  
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

New accounting standards and interpretations
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective and have  
not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2009. 

AASB 
Amendment/
Standard Title

Nature of change to accounting policy  
and impact on financial report

Application 
date of 
standard

Application 
date for the 
entity

AASB 8 Operating Segments New Standard replacing AASB 114 Segment Reporting, 
which adopts a management reporting approach to segment 
reporting.

The amendments will cause no change to accounting policy.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

AASB 101 
(Revised),  
AASB 2007-8 
and  
AASB 2007-10

Presentation of 
Financial Statements 
and Consequential 
Amendments To 
Other Australian 
Accounting 
Standards.

Introduces a statement of comprehensive income.  
Other revisions include impacts on the presentation of items 
in the statement of changes in equity, new presentation 
requirements for restatement or reclassifications of items  
in the financial statements, changes in the presentation 
requirements for dividends and changes to the titles of the 
financial statements. The amendments will impact disclosure.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

AASB 2009-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Improving 
Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments 
(AASB4, AASB 7, 
AASB 1023 &  
AASB 1038)

The main amendment to AASB 7 requires fair value 
measurements to be disclosed by the source of inputs, using 
the following three-level hierarchy:
n quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities (Level 1);
n inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that  

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); 

	 and 
n inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 

observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

These amendments arise from the issuance of Improving 
Disclosures About Financial Instruments (Amendments to 
IFRS 7) by the IASB in March 2009.

The amendments to AASB 4, AASB 1023 and AASB 1038 
comprise editorial changes resulting from the amendments  
to AASB 7.

The amendments will impact disclosure.

1 January 2009 1 July 2009

AASB 2009-Y Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASB 5, 7, 
107, 112, 136 & 139 
and Interpretation 17)

These comprise editorial amendments and are expected to 
have no major impact on the requirements of the amended 
pronouncements.

1 July 2009 1 July 2009

Property, plant, and equipment
Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on periodic 
but at least triennial valuations by external independent valuers, 
less accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any 
impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisa-
tion when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when 
each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement 
only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other repairs and mainten- 
ance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:

Buildings 34 years
Building refurbishment 12 years
Leasehold improvements Lease term
Furniture and fittings 13 years
Computers 4 years
Office equipment 7 years
Telephone system 5 years
System development 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Systems’ development costs that will produce long-term company 
benefits are amortised and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.

Land and building revaluations
Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve 
included in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 
decrement for the same asset previously recognised in profit or 
loss, in which case the increment is recognised in profit or loss.

Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss, except 
to the extent that it offsets a previous revaluation increment for 
the same asset, in which case the decrement is debited directly to 
the asset revaluation reserve to the extent of the credit balance 
existing in the revaluation reserve for that asset.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is elimi- 
nated against the gross carrying amounts of the assets and the 
net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts of the assets.

Land and buildings were revalued to recoverable amounts based 
on the fair value subject to existing use as at the 30 June 2009 in 
accordance with AASB 116. In June 2009, the Directors obtained 
an independent valuation of the company-owned land and 
buildings. The independent valuer was Colliers International 
Consultancy and Valuation Pty Ltd.

Disposal
An item of property, plant, and equipment is derecognised on 
disposal or when we can expect no further future economic 
benefits from its use or disposal.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the 
income statement.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve relating 
to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Payables
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost due to 
their short-term nature they are not discounted. They represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to  
the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the 
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of 
the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Employee benefits and provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it  

is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date using a discounted cash flow 
methodology. The risks specific to the provision are factored into 
the cash flows and as such a risk-free Government bond rate rela- 
tive to the expected life of the provision is used as a discount rate.

Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits 
and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured  
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on national Government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Accounting for goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except 
where the GST incurred is not recoverable. In this case, it is rec- 
ognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or part of  
the expense item as applicable.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is classified as part of operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority.

Income tax
State Trustees is a State Government-owned entity listed on the 
register of the National Tax Equivalent Regime. As such, it is 
required to account for its taxation liabilities in accordance with 
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, and the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997 as required.

It pays tax as calculated in accordance with the respective tax- 
ation legislation to the Victorian Government Consolidated Fund.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities
The calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured in 
accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 112. As such, State 
Trustees accounts for the tax consequences of transactions and 
other events in the same way that it accounts for the transactions 
and other events themselves. Thus, for transactions recognised in 
profit or loss, related tax effects are also recognised in profit or 
loss. For transactions and other events recognised directly in 
equity, any related tax effects are also recognised in equity.

A deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability will be recognised 
for all temporary differences that arise for the difference between 
the carrying value of the asset or liability and its tax value.

Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable 
in future periods in respect of deductible temporary differences, the 
carry forward of unused tax losses and the carry forward of unused 
tax credits. A deferred tax asset shall be recognised for the carry 
forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent 
that it is probable that future profit will be available against which 
the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are amounts of income taxes payable in 
future periods in respect of taxable temporary differences.
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 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 3. Other revenue and expenses

INCOME

Other revenue from operating activities
n Profit/(Loss) on sale of fixed assets  117 (18) 117 (18)
n Interest received  350 575 293 488
n Distributions from managed investments  970 919 453 418
n Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value  (1,285) (1,021) (599) (476)
  152 455 264 412

EXPENSES

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation    
n Building  365 323 365 323
n Building improvements  364 329 364 329
n Leasehold improvements  372 208 372 208
n Fixtures and fittings  113 109 113 109
n Computer and office equipment  1,176 768 1,176 768
n Telephone system  9 28 9 28
n Motor vehicles  106 108 106 108
  2,505 1,873 2,505 1,873

Amortisation
n System development  42 107 42 107
  42 107 42 107

Other expenses
n Corporate  4,400 4,155 4,469 3,710
n Building and office  3,062 1,471 3,062 1,471
n Marketing and advertising  1,130 1,297 1,130 1,297
n Information system  917 852 917 852
n Travel and motor vehicle  496 442 496 442
n Other  408 1,655 404 1,637
  10,413 9,872 10,478 9,409
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 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 4. Income tax equivalent expense
Profit/(loss) before tax  475 4,150 (123) 4,427

Prima facie tax at 30 per cent  143 1,245 (37) 1,328
Tax effect of non-temporary differences:
n Intercompany dividend  – – (210) (587)
n Capital allowance  (212) – (212) –
n Imputation credits and other  (61) – 13 –
n Adjustment on prior year  (62) (208) (27) (407)
Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit (192) 1,037 (473) 344

Total income tax expense comprises movements in:    
n Current tax expense  574 1,926 125 1,234
n Deferred tax expense  (704) (670) (571) (483)
n Adjustment on prior year  (62) (219) (27) (407)
  (192) 1,037 (473) 344

Taxable and deductible temporary differences
arise from the following:  Opening Charged Charged Closing 
  Balance to income to Equity Balance
Consolidated entity 2009  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Gross deferred tax assets
n Unrealised losses  211 (211) – –
n Provision for doubtful debts  5 10 – 15
n Provision for employee entitlements  1,889 312 – 2,201
n Provision for general expenses  206 (21) – 185
n Accrued audit fees  29 (18) – 11
n Realised losses  – 471 – 471
n Fixed assets  – 51 – 51
Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit 2,340 594 – 2,934

Gross deferred tax liabilities
n Unrealised gains on investments  – (10) – (10)
n FBT  (3) 2 – (1)
n Fixed assets  (118) 118 – –
n Asset revaluation reserve  (417) – 52 (365)
  (538) 110 52 (376)

Parent entity 2009

Gross deferred tax assets
n Unrealised losses  100 (100) – –
n Provision for doubtful debts  5 10 – 15
n Provision for employee entitlements  1,889 314 – 2,203
n Provision for general expenses  206 (21) – 185
n Accrued audit fees  26 (18) – 8
n Realised losses  – 219 – 219
n Fixed assets  – 51 – 51
Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit 2,226 455 – 2,681

Gross deferred tax liabilities

n Unrealised gains on investments  – (5) – (5)
n FBT  (3) 2 – (1)
n Fixed assets  (118) 118 – –
n Asset revaluation reserve  (417) – 52 (365)
  (538) 115 52 (371)
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 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank  2,231 2,203 2,210 2,060
Short term money market deposits at call  200 3,050 – 2,500

Total cash assets  2,431 5,253 2,210 4,560

Note 6. Receivables (current)
Debtors  1,498 1,032 1,497 1,032
Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (50) (16) (50) (16)

  1,448 1,016 1,447 1,016
Amount owed by related entity  – – – 438
Accrued income  8,258 7,910 8,153 7,552

Total current receivables  9,706 8,926 9,600 9,006

Note 7. Other financial assets (current)
Advances to clients  2,856 2,424 2,856 2,424
Investments in managed investment schemes  11,397 12,681 5,316 5,915

Total current other financial assets  14,253 15,105 8,172 8,339

Note 8. Other assets (current)
Prepayments  848 654 848 654

Total current other assets  848 654 848 654

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 9. Property, plant, and equipment
Land  5,250 3,400 5,250 3,400
Revaluation of asset  (750) 1,850 (750) 1,850

Net book value – land at fair value (2009 valuation)  4,500 5,250 4,500 5,250

Building
Opening value  13,750 12,350 13,750 12,350
Additions at cost  79 105 79 105
Revaluation  (850) 1,947 (850) 1,947
Elimination of accumulated depreciation  (729) (652) (729) (652)

  12,250 13,750 12,250 13,750

Opening accumulated depreciation  – – – –
Depreciation for the year  729 652 729 652
Elimination of accumulated depreciation  (729) (652) (729) (652)

  – – – –

Net book value –building at fair value (2009 valuation)  12,250 13,750 12,250 13,750

Leasehold improvements
Opening value at cost  1,876 1,386 1,876 1,386
Additions at cost  65 490 65 490

  1,941 1,876 1,941 1,876

Opening accumulated depreciation  811 603 811 603
Depreciation for the year  371 208 371 208

  1,182 811 1,182 811

Net book value – leasehold improvements  759 1,065 759 1,065

Furniture and fittings
Opening value at cost  2,068 2,010 2,068 2,010
Additions at cost  63 75 63 75
Disposals  – (17) – (17)

  2,131 2,068 2,131 2,068

Opening accumulated depreciation  1,372 1,263 1,372 1263
Depreciation for the year  113 109 113 109

  1,485 1,372 1,485 1,372

Net book value – furniture and fittings  646 696 646 696

Computer and office equipment
Opening value at cost  12,832 11,875 12,832 11,875
Additions at cost  3,194 957 3,194 957

  16,026 12,832 16,026 12,832

Opening accumulated depreciation  11,180 10,385 11,180 10,385
Depreciation for the year  1,185 795 1,185 795

  12,365 11,180 12,365 11,180

Net book value – computer and office equipment  3,661 1,652 3,661 1,652

Motor vehicles
Opening value at cost  597 520 597 520
Additions at cost  542 87 542 87
Disposals at cost  (375) (10) (375) (10)

  764 597 764 597

Opening accumulated depreciation  413 305 413 305
Depreciation for the year  106 108 106 108
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  (320) – (320) –

  199 413 199 413

Net book value – motor vehicles  565 184 565 184

System development
Opening value at cost  10,045 10,002 10,045 10,002
Additions at cost  3 43 3 43

  10,048 10,045 10,048 10,045

Opening accumulated depreciation  9,923 9,816 9,923 9,816
Depreciation for the year  42 107 42 107

  9,965 9,923 9,965 9,923

Net book value – system development  83 122 83 122

Net book value – capital work in progress additions  195 696 195 696

Total property, plant and equipment  22,659 23,415 22,659 23,415

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) has not been taken into account in determining the carrying amounts of land and buildings. The land and buildings were 
acquired before CGT was introduced. The economic entity is not liable to pay CGT except with respect to building refurbishments since the 
introduction of CGT.
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 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
 Note $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 10. Reserve Fund – Trustee Companies Act
Under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (the Act), a reserve fund of not less than half of one per cent of the value of company-
managed trust estates in Victoria must be provided. In the event that a liquidator, receiver or manager is appointed, reserve fund 
monies are to be paid from the trustee company according to Section 39(3) of the Act. Section 38 of the Act requires the company to 
place assets into a reserve fund. These assets must be managed consistent with requirements of the Trustee Act 1958.

Assets comprising the Reserve Fund    
Land and building 9 16,750 19,000 16,750 19,000
Reserve fund requirements  8,146 7,376 8,146 7,367

Surplus  8,604 11,624 8,604 11,624

Note 11. Other financial assets (non-current)
Investment in controlled entity at cost 22 – – 5,200 5,200

Total non-current other financial assets  – – 5,200 5,200

Note 12. Payables (current)
Trade creditors, unsecured  995 912 996 883
Other creditors, unsecured  1,499 1,985 1,460 1,965
Amount owing to related company  – – 451 –
Staffing costs and packages  2,069 1,722 2,069 1,722
Unearned revenue  294 233 294 233

Total current payables  4,857 4,852 5,270 4,803

Note 13. Provisions (current)
Employee entitlements  5,135 4,534 5,135 4,534

Total current provisions  5,135 4,534 5,135 4,534

Note 14. Provisions (non-current)
Employee entitlements  1,396 1,038 1,396 1,038

Total non-current provisions  1,396 1,038 1,396 1,038

Note 15. Employee entitlements
Aggregate employee entitlement liability  8,600 7,294 8,600 7,294

Included in:    
n Payables: 12 2,069 1,722 2,069 1,722
n Provisions current: 13 5,135 4,534 5,135 4,534
n Provisions non-current: 14 1,396 1,038 1,396 1,038

Total employee entitlements  8,600 7,294 8,600 7,294

Employee numbers at reporting date  575 551 575 551

Note 16. Contributed equity 

Share capital    
Ordinary shares 
(12,461,664 fully paid shares, 2008: 12,461,664)*  12,462 12,462 12,462 12,462

  12,462 12,462 12,462 12,462

* There was no movement in issued shares for the year.

The entity has only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, which owns all the ordinary shares. This entitles the holder to receive 
dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company that is in proportion to the number of, and amounts paid on, the  
shares held.

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 17. Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve*  10,002 11,550 10,002 11,550
General reserve**  8,146 7,376 8,146 7,376

Total reserves  18,148 18,926 18,148 18,926

Asset revaluation reserve    
Balance at start of financial year  11,550 7,863 11,550 7,863
Revaluation increments  (1,600) 3,798 (1,600) 3,798
Provision for deferred tax liability  
– building refurbishment subject to CGT  52 (111) 52 (111)

Balance at end of financial year  10,002 11,550 10,002 11,550

* The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to the extent that they  
offset one another.

** On 30 June 1999, in keeping with legislation amending the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994, the corpus amounts held by Common 
Funds managed by the parent entity were paid to State Trustees and transferred to a general reserve. The movement in the general reserve reflects a 
transfer of $770,000 in 2009 (2008: transfer of $124,000) from/(to) Retained Profits.

Note 18. Retained profits
Net profit  667 3,113 350 4,083

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year  11,910 10,953 10,358 8,431

Total available for appropriation  12,577 14,066 10,708 12,514

Dividends paid  1,229 2,280 1,229 2,280
Profits transferred to/(from) general reserve (per Trustee Act) 770 (124) 770 (124)

Retained profits at the end of the financial year  10,578 11,910 8,709 10,358

Note 19. Commitments

Operating lease commitments    
Not later than one year  824 785 824 785
Later than one year but not later than two years  543 1,361 543 1,361

Operating expenditure liability  1,367 2,146 1,367 2,146

Operating expenditure contracted for is payable as follows    
Not later than one year  202 262 202 262
Later than one year but not later than two years  274 117 274 117

Operating expenditure liability  476 379 476 379

Capital expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:    
Not later than one year  – – – –

Capital expenditure commitments  – – – –
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 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 20. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets    
STL is seeking reimbursement of expenses incurred in a  
client-related matter. Realising the receivable depends on selling  
a property, the title to which is encumbered with a caveat.  5 5 5 5

Total contingent assets  5 5 5 5

Contingent liabilities: Performance bonds    
Guarantee in favour of the ASX Settlement and  
Transfer Corporation Pty Ltd (CHESS membership)  500 500 500 500
Guarantee in favour of ASIC (AFS Licence)  20 20 20 20

Total contingent liabilities*  520 520 520 520

* As part of a range of litigation brought by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) on behalf of investors following the collapse  
of the Westpoint Group, ASIC commenced proceedings against State Trustees in respect of the failed 60 Market Street Trust. ASIC alleged that State 
Trustees, as the trustee of an unsecured mezzanine note issued by Market Street Mezzanine Ltd (in liquidation), breached its duty to the mezzanine  
note holders and failed to comply with its obligations under the Corporations Act. State Trustees has denied liability and is taking all necessary steps  
to defend its position.
A mediation of this and associated claims was commenced in June 2009. The mediation is continuing and may lead to a settlement.
State Trustees is indemnified by its insurers in respect to this claim and we do not anticipate material loss in respect of this contingent liability.

Note 21. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

a. Cash reconciliation
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes  
cash at bank and on hand, and short term money market  
deposits at call, as shown in Note 5.

b. Reconciliation of net cash inflow from net profit  
after tax to net cash provided by operating activities
Net profit after income tax  667 3,113 350 4,083
Add/(less): non-operating activities
n sale of fixed assets  (117) 18 (117) 18
n dividend from related entity  – – (701) (1,958)

Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items:    
Depreciation and amortisation expense  2,547 1,980 2,547 1,980

Movement in provision for:
n Deferred tax liability  (110) (254) (115) (182)
n Deferred tax asset  (594) (417) (455) (304)
n Employee entitlements  959 779 959 779
n Other provisions  – (350) – (350)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in:
n Receivables  (900) (2,059) (1,153) (2,012)
n Prepayments  (194) (120) (194) (120)
Increase/(decrease) in:    
n Payables  (1,428) 1,502 (723) 805
Net cash inflow from operating activities  830 4,192 398 2,739

Note 22. Controlled entities
The consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2009 include the following controlled entities. The financial year of the controlled 
entities is the same as that of the parent entity.

Controlled entity
Place of 

incorporation
Type of 
shares

Book value of  
parent entity’s 
investment in $ % of shares held

Contribution to the 
results in $000s

STL Financial 
Services Limited Australia Ordinary

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

5.2m 5.2m 100 100 1,018 988

STL Financial Services Limited has $5.2 million of paid up capital and this has allowed it to satisfy the Australian Financial Services 
Licence requirements in respect of minimum net tangible assets. The State of Victoria is State Trustees Limited’s ultimate parent.

Note 23. Economic dependency
A significant portion of revenue is received from the State of Victoria via the Community Services Agreement. A five-year agreement 
expires on 30 June 2012. This contract is between State Trustees Limited and the Department of Human Services.

Note 24. Related party disclosures

Key management personnel
State Trustees’ key management personnel include the Directors and those executives reporting directly to the Managing Director.

Directors
The following persons held the position of Company Director during the past financial year:

Julie A Elliott Anthony G Fitzgerald

Paula M Allen (appointed 01/12/08) Linda G Berry

Annette W Broadfoot (appointed 01/12/08) Patrick M Burroughs

Dr Irene Irvine John R E Price

John H M Marcard (resigned 30/11/08) Daryl F Hawkey (resigned 30/11/08)

Executives
The following held executive positions during the past financial year:

David Johnstone General Manager Personal Financial Solutions

Ross McDonald General Manager Executor and Trustees Services

Doug Sumner General Manager Estate Planning

Andrew Lloyde General Manager Corporate Strategy and Innovation

Prue Willsford General Manager Corporate Operations

John Brennan General Manager STL2020 (from 12 January 2009)*

Alexandra Axford General Manager Corporate Relations and Marketing

Andrew Schuette Acting General Manager People and Culture (from 12 January 2009)

* Prior to 12 January 2009 John Brennan was the General Manager of People and Culture.

The remuneration paid to the Company Directors is tabled below.

2009
$000s

2008
$000s

Base remuneration 531 434

Short-term incentives 55 37

Termination benefits –  –

Post-employment benefits 53 40

Total remuneration of Directors 639 511

The remuneration paid to key executives is tabled below.

2009
$000s

2008
$000s

Base remuneration 1,397 1,203

Short-term incentives 238 122

Termination benefits – –

Post-employment benefits 147 117

Total executive remuneration 1,782 1,442

The key management personnel’s remuneration disclosed above for the consolidated entity is consistent with the parent entity.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The principles underlying our remuneration policies are outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement. Remuneration is based  
on the Government Sector Employment Remuneration Panel (GSERP) framework. This is structured as a total employment cost 
package, delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed non-financial benefits at the executives’ discretion. Executives receive no more 
than 80 per cent of the Managing Director’s base salary (as determined by GSERP). In addition, they are offered short-term 
incentives to the maximum of 20 per cent of total base remuneration.

Other transactions with key management or entities related to them
There are no other transactions with key management personnel in the financial year ended 30 June 2009.
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 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 24. Related party disclosures (continued)

Transactions with STL Financial Services Limited
The parent entity entered into the following transactions during the financial year with its controlled entity. It advanced and repaid 
amounts on short-term inter-company accounts. These are repayable on demand.
Dividend payments received  – – 701 1,958
Amounts receivable (current)  – – – 438
Amounts payable (current)  – – 451 –
Inter-company tax related receivables  – – – 691

All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.

Transactions with inveST and Premium Funds
On 1 January 2009, a new range of managed investment schemes known as the inveST Funds were introduced and the Premium 
Funds were progressively wound-up over the period February to April 2009. The Group moved investments from the Premium Funds  
to the inveST Funds.

Group investments in the inveST Funds:
inveST Diversified Income Fund  
(formerly known as Fixed Interest Common Fund)  8,010 – 3,738 –
inveST Australian Equity Fund  
(formerly known as Equity Common Fund)  1,090 – 510 –
inveST Property Fund  579 – 270 –
inveST International Equity Fund  1,718 – 798 –

Total investment in inveST funds  11,397 – 5,316 –

Group Investments in the Premium Funds:
Premium Cash Fund  – 4,775 – 2,227
Premium Fixed Interest Fund  – 4,107 – 1,915
Premium Equity Fund  – 2,372 – 1,106
Premium International Fund  – 762 – 356

Total investment in Premium Funds  – 12,016 – 5,604

Fees and Commissions received from
Premium Funds  2,987 4,381 53 166
inveST Funds  1,247 – 1,247 –
Common Funds  3,499 3,447 3,499 3,447

Total fees and commissions  7,733 7,828 4,799 3,613

STL Financial Services Limited received fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the Premium Funds. State Trustees received  
fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the inveST Funds. State Trustees received fees in its capacity as Manager and Trustee  
of the Cash and Charitable Common Funds.

Directors’ interests
There are no Directors’ interests in any of the Funds managed by the Group.

Note 25. Client assets under management and trusteeship
Total client assets under management and trusteeship were as follows. These amounts are not reflected in the balance sheet 
as they are held in trust on behalf of the entities’ clients.

Investments, real estate, personal, and other assets  875,527 787,001 875,527 787,001
Client investments in Common Funds  753,486 206,750 753,486 206,750
Investments in Premium Funds  – 481,340 – 264,493

Total assets under management and trusteeship  1,629,013 1,475,091 1,629,013 1,258,244

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
  2009 2008 2009 2008 
  $000s $000s $000s $000s

Note 26. Remuneration of auditors
Audit or review of the financial statements  147 155 127 137

Total remuneration*  147 155 127 137

*Total remuneration includes remuneration paid (or due to be paid) to the auditor of the parent entity and its controlled entities.

During the year, the auditors were paid for auditing the Common Funds and inveST Funds where State Trustees Limited acts as  
trustee and responsible entity, and for the Premium Funds, where STL Financial Services Limited acted as the responsible entity.  
The total amount due and payable was $350,222 (2008: $353,087), including the $146,700 disclosed above.
During the year, the auditors were paid for auditing the State Trustees Australia Foundation where State Trustees Limited acts as 
Trustee. The total amount due and payable was $9,810 (2008: $11,440). These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses 
– Corporate.
During the year, the auditors were paid for auditing the Residents Trust Fund where State Trustees Limited acts as Fund Manager and 
Trustee. The total amount due and payable was $11,894 (2008: $9,256). These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses 
– Corporate.

Note 27. Statement of operations by segments
The consolidated entity provides trustee and related financial services and operates predominantly within Victoria.

Note 28. Registered office
State Trustees Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal  
place of business is: State Trustees Limited 
 168 Exhibition Street 
 Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Note 29. Financial risk management
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits and financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss. The financial instruments’ main purpose is to generate a return on the group’s investments. The group has various other 
financial instruments such as receivables and accounts payable that arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, market risk, and liquidity and cash flow 
risk. These risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results from reasonably possible changes in 
the relevant risk variables. Information about these risk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below. 
Information about the total fair value of financial instruments exposed to risk, as well as compliance with established investment 
mandate limits, is also monitored by Management and the Investment Committee and reported on a monthly basis.

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk involves counterparties failure to perform contractual obligations that will cause the Group to incur financial 
losses. Concentrations of credit risk are minimised primarily by ensuring:
n transactions are undertaken with a diverse range of counterparties, and
n a majority of transactions are undertaken with clients under our administration.

In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that exposure to bad debts has not been 
significant. There is no material exposure to a group of counterparties that is expected to be affected similarly by changes in 
economic or other conditions. The carrying amount of financial assets that is recorded in the financial statements represents the 
maximum exposure to credit risk.

Allowance for impairment loss
Receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 60 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. An impairment loss of $50,000 (2008: $16,000) has been recognised by the Group.

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows:
At 1 July 2008  16 24 16 24
Charge for the year  62 – 62 –
Amounts written off  (28) (8) (28) (8)

At 30 June 2009  50 16 50 16
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Note 29. Financial risk management (continued)
At 30 June, the ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:

Total  
$000s

0–30 days 
$000s

31–60 days 
$000s

61–90 Days 
$000s

+91 days 
$000s

2009
Consolidated 9,706 9,638 – 12 56

Parent 9,600 9,532 – 12 56

2008
Consolidated 8,926 8,857 49 3 17

Parent 9,006 8,937 49 3 17

Other balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these other balances  
will be received when due.

Liquidity and cash flow risk
Liquidity risk is the risk in either realising assets or otherwise raising sufficient funds to satisfy commitments associated with the  
entity’s operations. Cash flow risk relates to the fluctuations in future cash flows from holding financial instruments.  
Risk management guidelines adopted that are designed to minimise liquidity and cash flow risk are:
n ensuring substantial cash reserves are held by the entity with major Australian banks;
n ensuring there is no significant exposure to illiquid or thinly-traded financial instruments; and
n applying limits to ensure that there is no concentration of liquidity risk to a particular counterparty or market.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectations.
To monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future risks State Trustees monitors  
risk through reporting that reflects management’s expectations of future settlement of financial assets and liabilities. The risk implied 
from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows.

2009 
Consolidated Entity

<6 months 
$000s

6–12 months 
$000s

1–5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

Total 
$000s

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 2,431 – – – 2,431

Receivables 9,676 30 – – 9,706

Advances to clients* 1,450 369 509 528 2,856

Interests in inveST Funds
> Diversified income 8,009 – – – 8,009

> Property 580 – – – 580

> Australian equity 1,090 – – – 1,090

> International equity 1,718 – – – 1,718

24,954 399 509 528 26,390

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable 2,494 – – – 2,494

2,494 – – – 2,494

2008 
Consolidated Entity

<6 months 
$000s

6–12 months 
$000s

1–5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

Total 
$000s

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 5,253 – – – 5,253

Receivables 8,926 – – – 8,926

Advances to clients* 893 423 622 486 2,424

Interests in managed investment scheme
> Cash fund 4,774 – – – 4,774

> Fixed interest 4,107 – – – 4,107

> Equity 2,372 – – – 2,372

> International 762 – – – 762

> Blackrock (external) 666 – – – 666

27,753 423 622 486 29,284

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable 2,897 – – – 2,897

2,897 – – – 2,897

*Advances to clients are subject to an approval process prior to issue and are reviewed for impairment by divisional management.

Note 29. Financial risk management (continued)

2009 
Parent Entity

<6 months 
$000s

6–12 months 
$000s

1–5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

Total 
$000s

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 2,210 – – – 2,210

Receivables 9,570 30 – – 9,600

Advances to clients* 1,450 369 509 528 2,856

Interests in inveST Funds
> Diversified income 3,738 – – – 3,738

> Property 270 – – – 270

> Australian equity 510 – – – 510

> International equity 798 – – – 798

18,546 399 509 528 19,982

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable 2,907 – – – 2,907

2,907 – – – 2,907

2008 
Parent Entity

<6 months 
$000s

6–12 months 
$000s

1–5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

Total 
$000s

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 4,560 – – – 4,560

Receivables 9,006 – – – 9,006

Advances to clients* 893 423 622 486 2,424

Interests in managed investment scheme
> Cash fund 2,227 – – – 2,227

> Fixed interest 1,915 – – – 1,915

> Equity 1,106 – – – 1,106

> International 356 – – – 356

> Blackrock (external) 311 – – – 311

20,374 423 622 486 21,905

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable 2,848 – – – 2,848

2,848 – – – 2,848

*Advances to clients are subject to an approval process prior to issue and are reviewed for impairment by divisional management.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables 
such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis, 
and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate limits and 
investment strategies.This risk exposure is managed by diversifying investments and managing to a conservative asset allocation 
model. 30 per cent of our financial investments are in growth assets (exposure to listed domestic and international equities through 
investment in managed investment schemes) and 70 per cent are invested in defensive assets (exposure to cash and fixed interest 
through investments in managed investment schemes).

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. There is no significant direct foreign exchange risk exposure to the Group. There is an indirect exposure to foreign 
currency through the Group’s investments in the inveST International Equity Fund. This exposure is not deemed significant.

Interest rate risk exposures
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial 
instruments. The Group has established limits on investments in interest bearing assets, which are monitored weekly.
The Group’s exposure to interest rates is limited to cash and short-term deposits as disclosed in Note 5. The Group has no 
borrowings.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s income statements to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, 
with all other variables held constant.
The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on:
n  the interest income for one year, based on the floating rate cash and cash equivalent financial assets held at 30 June 2009
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Note 29. Financial risk management (continued)

Accounting assumptions variability of interest rates
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in the interest rates over the past 10 years.

Consolidated  
Entity

Equity – sensitivity of interest income Post tax profit higher/lower

+50 bps  –50 bps +50 bps  –50 bps

$ $ $ $

30 June 2009 1,749 (1,749) 1,224 (1,224)

30 June 2008 2,875 (2,875) 2,013 (2,013)

Parent  
Entity

Equity – sensitivity of interest income Post tax profit higher/lower

+50 bps  –50 bps +50 bps  –50 bps

$ $ $ $

30 June 2009 1,466 (1,466) 1,026 (1,026)

30 June 2008 2,438 (2,438) 1,707 (1,707)

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in market prices, whether those changes  
are caused by factors specific to the individual stock or broader economic factors affecting equity markets as a whole. Equity price  
risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment in managed investment schemes.
The effect on the balance sheet and income statement due to reasonably possible changes in market factors (as represented by  
the equity indices) with all other variables held constant, is indicated in the tables below.

Accounting assumptions variability of equity price
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in the respective benchmark indices over the last 10 years.

Consolidated Entity 
30 June 2009

Change in  
equity price 

%

Effect on 
operating profit 

$

Effect on 
balance sheet 

$

inveST Diversified Income Fund
UBS Australian Composite Bond Index +3%

–3%
240,274 

(240,274)
240,274

(240,274)

inveST Property Fund
S&P ASX 200 Property Accumulation Index +16%

–16%
92,688

(92,688)
92,688

(92,688)

inveST Australian Equity Fund
S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Index +12.5%

–12.5%
136,258

(136,258)
136,258

(136,258)

inveST International Equity Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +16.5%

–16.5%
283,496

(283,496)
283,496

(283,496)

Consolidated Entity 
30 June 2008

Change in  
equity price 

%

Effect on 
operating profit 

$

Effect on 
balance sheet 

$

Premium Cash Fund
UBS Australian Bank Bill Index +0.2%

–0.2%
9,549

(9,549)
9,549

(9,549)

Premium Fixed Interest Fund
UBS Australian Composite Bond Index +3%

–3%
123,204

(123,204)
123,204

(123,204)

Premium Equity Fund
S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Index +11.5%

–11.5%
272,827

(272,827)
272,827

(272,827)

Premium International Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +15%

–15%
114,295

(114,295)
114,295

(114,295)

Black Rock International Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +15%

–15%
99,905

(99,905)
99,905

(99,905)

Note 29. Financial risk management (continued)

Parent Entity 
30 June 2009

Change in  
equity price 

%

Effect on 
operating profit 

$

Effect on 
balance sheet 

$

inveST Diversified Income Fund
UBS Australian Composite Bond Index +3%

–3%

112,154
(112,154)

112,154
(112,154)

inveST Property Fund
S&P ASX 200 Property Accumulation Index +16%

–16%

43,148
(43,148)

43,148
(43,148)

inveST Australian Equity Fund
S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Index +12.5%

–12.5%

63,699
(63,699)

63,699
(63,699)

inveST International Equity Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +16.5%

–16.5%

131,724
(131,724)

131,724
(131,724)

Parent Entity 
30 June 2008

Change in  
equity price 

%

Effect on 
operating profit 

$

Effect on 
balance sheet 

$

Premium Cash Fund
UBS Australian Bank Bill Index +0.2%

–0.2%

4,454
(4,454)

4,454
(4,454)

Premium Fixed Interest Fund
UBS Australian Composite Bond Index +3%

–3%

57,459
(57,459)

57,459
(57,459)

Premium Equity Fund
S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Index +11.5%

–11.5%

127,233
(127,233)

127,233
(127,233)

Premium International Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +15%

–15%

53,338
(53,338)

53,338
(53,338)

Black Rock International Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +15%

–15%

46,615
(46,615)

46,615
(46,615)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The financial assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet are carried at fair value.  
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:
n with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets as determined with reference to quoted market prices; and
n as determined according to generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.



Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Directors of State Trustees Limited

The Financial Report
The accompanying financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009 of State Trustees Limited, which comprises an income statement, 
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes to and forming part of the financial report, and the directors’ declaration has been audited. The financial report includes the 
consolidated financial statements of the consolidation entity, comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or 
from time to time during the financial year as disclosed in note Note 2 (b) to the financial statements.

The Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The Directors of State Trustees Limited are responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the financial reporting requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes:

n establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free  
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

n selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies
n making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In Note 2 (a), the Directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 
compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising 
the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Corporations Act 2001 and Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based  
on the audit, which has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Standards require compliance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements, and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The audit 
procedures selected depend on judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, consideration is given to the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Company Directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Report

This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements published in both the annual report and on the website of State Trustees Limited 
for the year ended 30 June 2009. The Directors of the company are responsible for the integrity of the web site. I have not been engaged 
to report on the integrity of the web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the statements named above. An opinion is not provided on 
any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from these statements. If users of this report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from electronic data communications, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report  
to confirm the information included in the audited financial report presented on the company’s web site.

Independence
The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General is not subject to direction by any 
person about the way in which his powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. In conducting the audit, the Auditor-General, his staff 
and delegates complied with all applicable independence requirements of the Australian accounting profession and the Corporations Act 
2001. I confirm that I have given to the Directors of the company a written independence declaration, a copy of which is included in the 
Directors’ Report. 

Auditor’s Opinion
In my opinion:

1  The financial report of State Trustees Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a    giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2009, and of its financial performance for the  
 year ended on that date; and

b    complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the  
 Corporations Regulations 2001.

2   The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2.

D Pearson Auditor-General         Melbourne 25 August 2009
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Note 30. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical experience and 
on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.The result of this forms the basis of the carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions and conditions.
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 
are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may materially affect 
financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.
Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

Recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences as management considers that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences.

Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements considered to be  
a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unrecouped tax losses, 
capital losses and temporary differences are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, 
which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits.

Valuation of investments
The Group has designated the classification of investments in unlisted trusts at fair value through profit or loss. The respective 
movements in fair value are recognised in the income statement. The fair value of investments in unlisted trusts has been determined 
by reference to quoted redemption prices as reported by the manager of these investments.

Note 31. Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
Other than the current volatility in equity markets, no circumstance has arisen that has affected or may significantly affect the 
company’s operations since 30 June 2009.

In the opinion of the Directors:

a  The financial statements and notes of the company and the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including:
i  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial positions as at 30 June 2009, and of their 

performances for the year ended on that date; and
ii  complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

b  there are reasonable grounds to believe that State Trustees Limited will be able to pay its debts when they become due and 
payable.

On behalf of the Board of State Trustees Limited

 
Julie Elliott Chairman of Directors Anthony G Fitzgerald Managing Director Melbourne, 25 August 2009

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of State Trustees Limited, we state that:

Directors’ declaration



Notes: Notes:



Additional copies
Copies of this annual report can be obtained by:

   Visiting our website at www.statetrustees.com.au

   Telephoning State Trustees on 9667 6444 or 1300 138 672 (local call cost from outside the metropolitan area)

Location
Our registered office and principal place of business is:

  168 Exhibition Street, Melbourne, 3000   Phone 9667 6444

Our customer service offices are at:

  Suite 22, 2nd floor, 40 Montclair Avenue, Glen Waverley, 3150   Phone 9667 6424

  307 Main Street, Mornington, 3931

  Personal Financial Solutions, 593 Little Bourke Street, Melbourne, 3000

State Trustees’ website can be accessed at www.statetrustees.com.au

For the cost of a local call, you can contact all our offices on 9667 6444 or 1300 138 672

Notes:
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